Alcohol and Ageing

Is alcohol a major threat to healthy ageing for the baby boomers?

A Report by the Alcohol and Ageing Working Group



healthyliving

Health Scotland commissioned this report from an independent group of experts in the field of alcohol and ageing. The recommendations represent the views of the members of that group, and not necessarily those of Health Scotland.

Published by Health Scotland.

Edinburgh Office: Woodburn House, Canaan Lane Edinburgh EH10 4SG

Glasgow Office: Clifton House, Clifton Place Glasgow G3 7LS

© NHS Health Scotland 2006 ISBN: 1-84485-341-1

Health Scotland is a WHO Collaborating Centre for Health Promotion and Public Health Development.

Contents

Detailed Chapter Contents		
List of Figures and Tables		
The Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group		
Recommendations	9	
Executive Summary	11	
Chapters		
1. Introduction	15	
2. Alcohol Consumption and Ageing	27	
3. Factors influencing Drinking in Old Age	37	
4. Advantages and Disadvantages of Alcohol Consumption	45	
5. Alcohol and Medicine in Old Age	55	
6. Looking into the Future	61	
7. Recommendations	71	
Appendix A – Definitions and Abbreviations	77	
Appendix B – Alcohol and Medication Interactions		
References	85	

Detailed Chapter Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction

Summary Introduction Aim of the report Target audience Structure of the report Baby boomers as an important cohort Why is alcohol consumption of importance to healthy ageing? Healthy ageing and the 'compression of morbidity' Physiological decline with age External assaults Compression versus extension of morbidity The ageing baby boomers Data sources, quality and quantity Sources Accuracy and reliability Ageing and cohort effects Conclusion

Chapter 2 Alcohol Consumption and Ageing

Summary

Introduction

- Q1. Does the amount of alcohol consumed change as people grow older?
- Q2. Does the pattern of drinking alter with age?
- Q3. Does the likelihood of exceeding recommended daily or weekly limits decline with age?
- Q4. Does the proportion of people with alcohol 'problems' decline with age?
- Q5. Has alcohol consumption amongst older people increased over time?
- Q6. Is the lower number of older people exceeding weekly recommended limits an ageing or a cohort effect?

Conclusion

Chapter 3 Factors Influencing Drinking in Old Age

Summary

Introduction

Q1. To what extent has the changing social context of alcohol consumption influenced drinking by older people?

- Q2. To what extent has the changing context of alcohol consumption differentially affected men and women across the age span?
- Q3. Do stressful life events in older age influence alcohol consumption?
- Q4. Do socio-economic factors influence alcohol consumption by older people?
- Q5. What impact do socio-economic factors have on alcohol-related mortality and morbidity?
- Q6. To what extent do perceptions and knowledge about alcohol influence consumption by older people, or help-seeking when alcohol problems arise?

Q7. Does retirement influence alcohol consumption?

Conclusion

Chapter 4 Advantages and Disadvantages of Alcohol Consumption

Summary

Introduction

- Q1. Is moderate alcohol consumption associated with healthy ageing?
- Q2. Does drinking alcohol make depression in old age worse or better?
- Q3. Does alcohol help older people sleep?
- Q4. Does drinking alcohol make it more likely that people will develop cognitive impairment or dementia when they get older?
- Q5. Is alcohol consumption associated with an increase in the risk of broken bones because people are more likely to fall when they have been drinking?

Q6. Are alcohol-related hospital admissions for older people rising? Conclusion

Chapter 5

Alcohol and Medicines in Old Age

Summary

Introduction

- Q1. Why is the combination of alcohol and medications a special issue for older adults?
- Q2. What proportion of older people are taking prescribed medicines and what are the most common drug treatments?
- Q3. Which medicines interact with alcohol?
- Q4. Is alcohol consumption taken into consideration when medications are prescribed to older people?
- Q5. Do older people comply with advice not to drink alcohol when taking medicines?

Conclusion

Chapter 6 Looking into the Future

Summary Introduction Possible futures Implications – Thinking ahead Rising alcohol consumption and future alcohol-related problems Reducing alcohol consumption Q1. What could government do to reduce at risk drinking by the baby boomers? Q2. What can health and social care professionals do to reduce at risk drinking by baby boomers and older people? Rights and responsibilities

Rights and responsibilities Conclusion

Chapter 7 Recommendations

Summary Introduction Age-based sensible drinking guidelines Subsidiary recommendations Conclusion

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1.1.	Demographic transition	19
Figure 1.2.	Baby boomers and potential alcohol-related problems: causes and consequences	21
Figure 1.3.	Morbidity scenarios	23
Figure 2.1.	. Mean weekly alcohol consumption (units) across age groups in Scotland	
Figure 2.2.	Proportion of people in Scotland who never drink or who drink almost daily, 1998	30
Figure 2.3.	 Percentage of people in Scotland aged 18-24 and 65-74 who report drinking the same amount on each drinking day, 1998 	
Figure 2.4.	.4. Percentage of males and females exceeding weekly limits in Scotland	
Figure 2.5.	 Percentage of adults in Scotland considered to be problem drinkers, 1998 	
Figure 2.6.	Mean weekly alcohol consumption (units) in UK by sex and age,1992-2000	34
Figure 2.7.	Percentage exceeding recommended weekly limits in UK by sex and age, 1998-2000	35
Figure 3.1.	Percentage of men and women in different social class exceeding weekly limits broken down into age groups	42
Figure 4.1.	Hypothetical J-shaped curve showing the relation between alcohol consumption and risk to health	47
Figure 4.2.	Hospital admissions in the elderly in Scotland (ages 65+) for alcohol related & attributable conditions, crude rates per 100,000 population, 1981-2001	54
Table 1.	Percentage exceeding recommended weekly drinking limits projected to 2012	36
Table 2.	Males and female weekly consumption and proportion exceeding recommended limits by social class in Scotland, aged 16 to 74	41
Table 3.	Possible future numbers of people over 65 exceeding weekly limits and alcohol-related hospital admissions	
Table 4.	Summary of alcohol and medication interactions	82

The Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group

Work on healthy ageing was initiated by the Public Health Institute of Scotland (PHIS)* in order to establish and investigate crucial issues of public health and ageing. This work is concerned with potential 'threats' to compression of morbidity in old age. Although there is some evidence that future generations of older people will experience better health and less disability than current cohorts of older people, a number of 'lifestyle' factors may considerably lower the probability of reductions in disease and disability in old age. Two examples of possible threats to healthy ageing include rising levels of obesity and rising levels of alcohol consumption.

An Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group was established, co-ordinated by Dr Jane Parkinson and chaired by Professor Mary Gilhooly. The members of this group focused on the potential impact of alcohol on healthy ageing specifically for the baby boomers, a large and important cohort born between 1945 and 1965, and the challenge that alcohol might pose to the notion of the future compression of morbidity.

Chair

Professor Mary Gilhooly Professor of Gerontology Health QWest Glasgow Caledonian University

Project Coordinator

Dr Jane Parkinson Public Health Adviser NHS Health Scotland (formerly of PHIS)

Core Writing Group

Dr David Bell	Consultant – Public Health Medicine, NHS Argyll and Clyde
Dr Karen Bell	R&D Manager, Ayrshire and Arran Community Division
Dr Christine Bond	Consultant in Pharmaceutical Public Health, NHS Grampian
Professor Phil Hanlon	Professor of Public Health, University of Glasgow
	(formerly Director of PHIS)
Mr Ian Davidson	Community Nurse for Alcohol Problems, West Lothian
	Health Care
Dr Donald Lyons	Director, Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland
Ms Eileen McDonach	PhD student, Dundee University
Dr Bruce Ritson	Honorary Fellow, Edinburgh University
Mr Charles Steel	Independent Addictions Adviser

^{*} On 1st April 2003 PHIS and the Health Education Board for Scotland (HEBS) merged to become NHS Health Scotland

Group Members

Pauline Clarke	Age Concern Scotland
Dr Ken Collins	General Practitioner, Glasgow
Dr Andrew Fraser	Deputy Chief Medical Officer
Dr Laurence Gruer	Director of Public Health Science Directorate,
	NHS Health Scotland

Acknowledgements

We wish to gratefully acknowledge the contributions of those organisations and individuals who responded to the consultation exercise. The following people and organisations provided helpful advice and comment:

Fiona Hird, Older Peoples Unit SE; Michael Ballard, Specialist Health Promotion Service Dundee Directors of Health Promotion group; Anne Jenkins, Alcohol Concern; Kate Winstanley, Portman Group; Sally Haw, NHS Health Scotland; Hazel Watson, Professor of Nursing Glasgow Caledonian University, Caledonian Nursing and Midwifery Research Centre; Lesley Graham ISD; John Kemm, Consultant in Public Health Medicine, West Midlands Public Health Group Government Office for the West Midlands Birmingham; John Brady, Alcohol Focus Scotland.

Recommendations

Key recommendation: Age-based sensible drinking limits

As we age our ability to metabolise alcohol decreases. In the same way that gender differences in the ability to metabolise alcohol led to the introduction of gender-based sensible drinking limits, it is time that it is acknowledged that there should also be age-based sensible drinking limits. If the baby boomers carry their current drinking patterns into old age they are likely to experience higher than anticipated levels of morbidity. Given the size of the baby boomer cohort in relation to the working age population, even a slight increase in alcohol-related health problems could have a major negative impact on the National Health Service (NHS).

Subsidiary recommendations

(1) More research on ageing with alcohol

- Funding for cross-sequential longitudinal studies of alcohol consumption should be made available. The baby boomers are currently aged 40-60 (at the end of 2005). Thus, in order to follow the baby boomers into their 60s, such studies need to last for 30 years. Along with amount, frequency, etc, the role of life events (e.g. retirement, bereavement) in patterns of alcohol consumption should be examined. The role of alcohol in accidents, and medication adherence and modification in relation to drinking, should also be included.
- It is acknowledged that cross-sequential designs are expensive and, therefore, we recommend that at least some funding go into cross-sectional studies on the following: (a) attitudes and knowledge of alcohol across the age range, (b) public knowledge of the impact of ageing on the ability to tolerate and metabolise alcohol, and (c) the nature and pattern of alcohol consumption among people age 45-65.
- Better use should be made of established data sources, in particular repeated surveys. National population surveys that examine alcohol consumption should include people over the age of 75 years, as well as provide greater differentiation of age groupings of older people.
- In the rare instance that longitudinal studies of ageing are commissioned in the UK, the inclusion of items on alcohol consumption and problems needs to be advocated.

(2) More alcohol education aimed at the baby boomers

• Middle-aged and older people need to be made aware of the impact of ageing on alcohol metabolism and the need to reduce consumption levels with age. An increase in awareness could be brought about through pre-retirement programmes.

• Health education focusing on alcohol should also include images of older people.

(3) Training of health and social care professionals

- Primary care and hospital care NHS staff must be trained in taking alcohol histories from all patients, with particular reference to older people.
- Health care professionals should also be trained to explore patterns of alcohol consumption to prevent medication/alcohol interactions.
- Specialist alcohol services should be available to older people.

(4) Labelling and packaging – Alcohol unit information

- All bottles and cans of alcoholic beverage should contain information about units of alcohol.
- Licensed premises should be required to post information regarding units of alcohol in standard measures of wine, beer and spirits.
- Packaging of medications that interact with alcohol need to include more explicit information indicating that older people are more at risk.

(5) An increase in the price of beverages containing alcohol

• The price of beverages containing alcohol should be increased via taxation. There is a large body of evidence from many different countries showing that price affects drinking behaviour. The price of alcohol has declined steadily in relation to incomes and, at the same time, there has been a corresponding increase in consumption in all age groups.

Executive Summary

Context of the report

Alcohol is a widely used drug in our society. Within sensible limits it is a pleasurable experience and an integral part of social activity. We know that drinking too much alcohol increases the risk of some illnesses and that very heavy drinking may lead to an early death. Drinking that exceeds recommended levels, but is not recognisably problematic, is more likely to result in increased morbidity as the person ages. For some time recommended sensible drinking levels have reflected gender differences. Recommendations on sensible drinking levels for people of different ages are long overdue.

Nature of the report

This report examines the drinking patterns of the present "baby boomer" generation (the large population cohort born between 1945 and 1965) and looks at the health implications of higher than recommended drinking in old age. Instead of concentrating on people with alcohol problems due to heavy drinking, it looks at the future health implications of a larger older population that contains a significant proportion of people who drink more than the recommended level of alcohol. If this population carries its current drinking pattern into old age, it will contain a large number of people who age "unhealthily". This could have grave implications for healthcare resources in future years.

Although the report is based on research evidence, it recognises significant gaps, especially the lack of long-term longitudinal studies of the drinking habits of a given population. Many of the issues are complex and the report is not intended to be an exhaustive examination of every piece of available evidence. Rather it is intended to provoke thought, debate and more research into the use of alcohol by an ageing population.

It is not the report's intention to suggest that all alcohol is bad, nor that Scotland has a larger problem than other countries. It is also not its intention that the State must control access to alcohol. It takes a broad view of the issues and suggests a range of ways that we can all make our society healthier in older years.

The evidence base

In searching the relevant literature we concentrated on Scottish data, but used data from elsewhere if no Scottish data was available. We examined four main areas of evidence.

a) Consumption patterns. Surveys show that older people drink lower quantities of alcohol than younger people. It is not clear whether people simply drink less as they get older (an "ageing effect"). It could be that the present generation of older people have always drunk less and carried that level of drinking into old age (a "cohort effect"). It is interesting to note that a major difference appears to be that older people report drinking less alcohol in terms of quantity per occasion.

The best available evidence appears to show that the present generation of older people drink more than their predecessors. Within this sector of the population there is a substantial minority that exceeds current recommended drinking levels. Over recent years, the number of older people who exceed recommended levels appears to be increasing.

b) Social factors influencing drinking in old age. In recent decades, alcohol has become more affordable in relation to disposable income. Drinking, especially in public, has become more acceptable, particularly for women. Socio-economic factors are complex with higher levels of binge drinking reported within lower socio-economic groups but higher regular consumption in higher socio-economic groups. Age-related stressors such as retirement, ill health and bereavement have been reported to provoke increased levels of alcohol consumption in some older people, but are not necessarily predictors of heavier drinking in an ageing population. In particular, the role of retirement is not well understood. While the retired person may have more time to drink, the amount of money available might be less.

The relatively small amount of evidence on attitudes to drinking in old age suggests that older people view alcohol problems as something that happens to younger people and consider alcohol to be medicinal. They are less likely than younger people to have heard of alcohol units and believe that they are old enough to know how to drink safely. Research suggests that society believes that older people have the right to make choices about alcohol and that it may be one of the few pleasures they have left.

c) Advantages and disadvantages of alcohol consumption. Too much alcohol is bad for you. It is particularly likely to damage the liver and brain and increases the risk of cardiovascular disease. Older people have higher blood alcohol levels than younger people after the same amount of alcohol and are much more likely to suffer impaired brain function. Alcohol is a factor in 15-30% of men and 8-15% of women admitted to hospital in urban areas of the UK. It is associated with increased levels of depression and sleep disorders as well as an increase in accidents.

There is debate about the possible benefits of small amounts of alcohol. As well as being a pleasant social experience, it may slightly reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease and possibly dementia. Research in this area is fraught with difficulty and hard to interpret. It is the conclusion of this report that any such benefit is small and occurs at levels of drinking which are much lower than many people realise. This is an important debate and one that has implications for the focus of this report. The problem is the danger of too high a proportion of the ageing population exceeding recommended drinking levels that are probably too high in the first place.

d) Alcohol and medicines. Age-related changes in the body result in slower metabolism of medications and alcohol. Various health problems are associated with advancing age and there is likely to be a greater need for multiple medications. Many of these interact with alcohol. There may be increased side effects or new problems associated with the combination. Because of these interactions, many older people will need to abstain or significantly alter their alcohol intake. There is evidence that some people alter their medication regime in order to have a drink.

Looking into the future

The over 65 population of Scotland will increase significantly over the next 25-30 years. At present 10% of this sector of the population exceeds recommended drinking levels. If the 20% of present 45-64 year olds who exceed recommended levels do not reduce their drinking, the number of older people in Scotland whose drinking may be a threat to healthy old age will rise from 80,700 to 223,500 by 2031. This would have a major impact on health resources. Even if this population reduced its drinking so that only 10% exceeded recommended levels, there would still be 111,750 people drinking too much. It would take a concerted campaign to reduce this proportion to 5%, a level that would do much to ensure a healthier older population in future years.

Recommendations

The key recommendation of this report is the introduction of age-based sensible drinking limits. Other recommendations are more research, more education on alcohol aimed at the baby boomers, training of health and social care professionals in screening and brief interventions, labelling beverages with information on units of alcohol, and an increase in the price of beverages containing alcohol.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Introduction

Summary

This chapter presents demographic data on the ageing of the population and a brief discussion of the nature of physiological decline with age and compression of morbidity. The structure of the report is outlined, and a note made of the target audience, namely health and social care professionals and policy makers.

- The baby boomers, the large cohort born during the two decades after the Second World War, will soon be turning 60 years of age.
- Although it is often assumed that they will experience better health compared to the current cohort of old people, that morbidity for the baby boomers will be compressed closer to death and, as a consequence, this large cohort of old people will not cause major problems for the health services, there are factors that might mean that compression of morbidity closer to death will not occur.
- Two factors that could be major threats to the hoped for compression of morbidity are relatively high levels of obesity and alcohol consumption.
- Problems inherent in studying alcohol consumption and the quality, quantity, and main sources of research that address the issues raised in this report are outlined.

Introduction

For several years concern has been raised about the 'demographic time bomb', that is, the future demands on health and welfare services by the cohort born in the two decades following World War II (1945 to 1965). The baby boomers, as this cohort is known, are now approaching sixty. Optimists argue that the better health of the baby boomers, compared to their parents, will mean that the disability and poor health commonly associated with advanced years will be compressed closer to time of death and, as a consequence, the baby boomers will not experience long periods of ill health that will be difficult to finance. Two factors which might reduce the likelihood of this hoped for compression of morbidity are obesity and alcohol consumption. Compared to previous cohorts of older people, the baby boomers are fatter and consume relatively high levels of alcohol. This report sets out to draw attention to important public health questions that need to be asked concerning the role of alcohol in relation to healthy ageing, focusing on the baby boomers. It is acknowledged that alcohol plays a role in the lives of many people but that the extent of this role may need to be reassessed.

Aim of the report

This exploratory and speculative report aims to examine the potential impact of the current level of alcohol consumption by the baby boomers on their future health. This aim is very different to that of most reports on alcohol, which mainly focus on alcohol 'problems' and older drinkers with alcohol problems. The objective is to explore the hypothesis that the current, and relatively high, levels of alcohol consumption amongst the baby boomers may be carried into old age and that these levels may pose a real threat to their future health.

The following broad public health questions have guided the collection of information for this report:

- 1. What is known about the alcohol consumption patterns of older people compared to middle-aged and younger people?
- 2. What factors influence and determine alcohol consumption amongst older people?
- 3. What are the advantages and disadvantages of alcohol consumption for older people?
- 4. Why is polypharmacy and alcohol a special issue for older people?
- 5. What is the potential future impact on public health, from what is known about alcohol consumption amongst current middle-aged and older people?

Target audience

This report is aimed at health and social care professionals, as well as policy makers.

Structure of the report

By drawing attention to the impact of alcohol consumption in middle age to a healthy old age, this report complements and augments the alcohol plan for Scotland, *'Plan for Action on Alcohol Problems'* (2002),¹ which sets out an agenda for change to reduce alcohol-related harm in Scotland, with particular emphasis on harmful drinking by children and young people and binge drinking. While the authors of this Alcohol and Healthy Ageing report are concerned about harmful drinking amongst older people, the report is more speculative and concerned with the future. Details of research providing answers to some of the speculative questions are noted, ^{2 3} but in many instances the evidence-base is weak. However, one of the main objectives of this report is to highlight areas where more research is needed and where questions may be raised for which no answers are currently available.

The report begins with a brief examination of the concepts of healthy ageing and compression of morbidity. It then considers methodological limitations, the prevalence of alcohol consumption and factors influencing drinking before addressing the impact of alcohol consumption on physical and mental health and the issue of consuming alcohol whilst on medication. The final section discusses possible future alcohol consumption scenarios.

Baby boomers as an important cohort

During the late 19th and 20th century much of the industrialised world experienced a process called "demographic transition" which gave rise to the relatively older population seen in the United Kingdom (UK) today (Figure 1.1).⁴ A particularly important feature of the future demographic changes in the developed world (countries such as the UK) is the ageing of the elderly population. Those aged 80 years and older are the fastest growing part of the elderly population. The increase in numbers of this segment of the population, combined with their very diverse health and social needs, will present a challenge to service providers. Most of them are women (reflecting the average six years longer life expectancy at birth for women) and many live alone.

Furthermore, the ageing of society has implications for the old-age dependency ratio – the ratio of individuals aged 65 and over in the population to the size of the economically active segment of the population. The number of people aged 65 and over per one hundred people aged 15-64 in the UK will change from 17.9% in 1960 to a predicted 29.7% in 2025.⁵ It is widely assumed that this shift in the balance of old and working age people in the population will damage the economy and create serious problems for health and social care services. Not only will there be an insufficient number of tax payers to pay for the costs of the NHS, but there will not be sufficient numbers of young people to work as health and social care professionals.⁶

The cohort known as the baby boomers is a very large post-World War II cohort. The demographic profiles of this cohort differs amongst countries of the Western world.⁷ For this report the baby boomers in Scotland refers to the cohort born between 1945 and 1965, currently aged 40 to 60 (end of 2005).⁸ This large cohort, which is moving into old age, will create a large and significant increase in the older population, not only in absolute numbers, but more importantly, in relation to the numbers of people of working age. This has many implications for society and services. Further, socio-cultural changes since World War II mean that there are patterns of behaviour within this cohort, especially for women, which were not present in previous cohorts and which will impact negatively on their future health. Alcohol consumption is one such behaviour. These differences in behaviour add to the implications for demand on services in the future by this large cohort.



number of people in age group

Figure 1.1 Demographic transition. Mid-year estimates of the Scottish population by age and sex for 1911, 1931, 1971, and 2001, and projected estimates for 2031 and 2041. This demonstrates the increase in size of the older sections of the population and the appearance and ageing of the baby boomers.¹¹⁻¹³

number of people in age group

Why is alcohol consumption of importance to healthy ageing?

It has been argued that both the current guidelines for sensible drinking and methods for screening for alcohol problems are designed for younger people and do not take into account changes that the ageing process brings.^{9;10} Older people may be less tolerant of alcohol as a result of a reduction in the body water to fat ratio, a decreased hepatic blood flow, inefficiency of liver enzymes, and reduced renal clearance. For example, after a standard alcohol load a man in his 60s may have a peak blood alcohol level 20% higher than a man in his 30s. Revisions of the recommended drinking limits for older people may therefore be needed. Education about the hazards of combining both prescription and over-the-counter (OTC) medications with alcohol may also be required.

The focus of this report is illustrated in Figure 1.2. The social and cultural factors in blue influence the drinking patterns of the baby boomer generation, the yellow factors illustrate changes that can affect either alcohol intake or the response of the individual to alcohol as they age and the red outcomes the possible consequences of drinking as the population ages.



Figure 1.2. Baby boomers and potential alcohol-related problems: causes and consequences

Healthy ageing and the 'compression of morbidity'

As we age the risk of disease and death increases. The reason for this is that ageing leads to a progressive, generalised impairment of function resulting in a loss of adaptive response. Two factors influence this risk: the rate of physiological decline and the risk of external assaults from the environment.¹⁴

Physiological decline with age

A number of physiological functions decline with age.¹⁵ Examples include the efficiency of lung function, circulation, muscles and nerves. There would seem to be a genetic element to this process of decline but it is also influenced by factors like environment, lifestyle and nutrition. Under certain influences this decline can accelerate, but attention to behaviour and environment can significantly slow the decline. For example, those who do not use their large muscle groups will lose strength. Sometimes the level of decline is such that we define it as pathological. For example, an individual who smokes and eats a high fat diet may experience changes that reduce coronary blood flow and lead to ischaemic heart disease.

The key point is that there is a slow decline in a wide range of physiological functions with age, but that the rate of decline is amenable to a large variety of environmental and behavioural interventions. One of the keys to healthy ageing is the manipulation of behaviour and environment to slow rate of physiological decline as much as possible.

External assaults

External assaults include accidents, trauma, infections and any factor that threatens our physiological function sufficiently to cause disease or death. Obviously, the environment in which we live influences the frequency and scale of external assaults. Also, our ability to withstand infection or trauma depends on the reserve capacity of our physiological systems. For example, pneumonia in a young healthy person with lungs that have a large reserve capacity is much less likely to be fatal than the same infection in an older person who has a life long history of smoking.

Compression versus extension of morbidity

The conclusion to be drawn from this analysis is that a secret of healthy ageing is to ensure that physiological decline is kept to a minimum and occurs in parallel across the major body systems while external assaults like trauma and infection are kept to a minimum.

The term "compression of morbidity"^{16;17} is used to describe an optimistic scenario where increasing proportions of the population will achieve these twin aims and live a long, healthy life in which death will be preceded by a very short period of ill health (morbidity), Figure 1.3. This scenario is based on a few key assumptions. Firstly, that the human lifespan is not endlessly elastic and, while increasingly large proportions of the population will achieve old age, the lifespan will not be pushed much higher. Also, if increasingly large proportions of the population can have slow and parallel physiological decline (as described above) and a minimisation of external assaults (like infection or trauma), we really will achieve healthy ageing for the vast majority.

An alternative theory is that we will see an extension to the period of ill health and poor functioning at the end of life, i.e. "extension of morbidity", Figure 1.3.^{18;19} Two mechanisms will drive this. First, the age of onset of poor function or disease will remain unchanged as influences like smoking and diet give rise to, for example, coronary heart disease or obstructive airways disease during mid life. At the same time, medical and environmental interventions will allow people to survive to an older age. The consequence will be increased longevity, but with an extended period of morbidity or ill health during older age.



Figure 1.3. Morbidity scenarios. *Current morbidity scenario* – physiological decline occurs with age leading to poor function and disease and years of life lived with morbidity prior to death; *Extension of morbidity scenario* – life expectancy is increased but physiological decline still occurs with age leading to poor function and disease and to an overall increase in the number of years lived with morbidity before death; *Compression of morbidity scenario* – life expectancy is increased but physiological decline with age is slower (due to for example better lifestyle from birth) occurring at or just prior to death thus leading to increased life expectancy with morbidity occurring just prior to death.

The Ageing Baby Boomers

As the baby boomers age, the numbers of people aged 80 and over will increase in Scotland. It is therefore important that we attend to the issue of physiological decline while it is still amenable to influence in middle age.¹⁴ Clearly the agenda for action is large and many lifestyle habits affect physiological decline.²⁰ The importance of understanding compression and extension of morbidity is to recognise that the "possible future" for baby boomers in Scotland will be determined by decisions that individuals, communities and policy makers make today.

Data Sources, Quality and Quantity

There are very real methodological difficulties in studying alcohol consumption and the literature reviewed for this report varies in terms of both quantity and quality. Overall there has been relatively little research on alcohol consumption amongst older people, particularly in Scotland. We have, therefore, also drawn on studies conducted in other countries. However, it is recognized that complex cultural differences mean that both the role of alcohol and consumption patterns in other cultures can be very different from those in Scotland. Consequently caution is needed in generalising this information to Scotland.⁹

Sources

Wherever possible we have used Scottish data. The 1995 Scottish Health Survey (SHS) only sampled people aged 16 to 64, while both the 1998 SHS and the Health Education Population Survey only included people up to the age of 74.^{2;21;22} The Scottish Household Survey does not contain questions on alcohol.²³ In contrast its UK counterpart, the General Household Survey (GHS), has included alcohol questions every second year since 1984 and annually since 2000 and samples people over the age of 65, although this does not include people in institutions. The total sample size, however, in Scotland is less than two thousand, obtaining sub-national trend data therefore is difficult.³ Older people are also treated as a homogenous group of those aged 65 and over, providing little information about subtle differences in alcohol consumption patterns which may exist.

Accuracy and reliability

The accuracy and reliability of self-report measures are often questioned as they can result in under-reporting. There may be difficulties in recall if the individual has been intoxicated, or has memory problems (the likelihood of which increases with age)²⁴ and issues of social desirability can also influence the accuracy of self-reporting. Additionally, the lack of standardised definitions, for example of older people, problem drinking, and screening tools are problematic when assessing patterns of consumption and potential problems. There is a lack of clarity within the literature about 'gold standard' tools for use with older people in terms of validity and reliability; a number of inconsistent results are reported. Current measures of alcohol consumption and problems are also generally tested on younger populations and different sampling techniques make drawing comparisons between studies difficult.

In addition, obtaining accurate data on consumption patterns of older people is difficult due to the reliance on cross-sectional data in the UK. In Scotland, this is particularly problematic. For older people these data often have three major drawbacks: (1) representation specific to older people is poor; (2) it does not extend into older age and when it does older people are treated as a homogeneous group failing to differentiate between, for example, those over 70 from those over 80, and (3) it is impossible to distinguish between cohort and ageing effects.

Ageing and cohort effects

The current generation of older people drink less than younger people (Chapter 2). It is not known whether this is the result of an *ageing* or *cohort* effect, or perhaps a combination of both.

Cohort effects are those that impact on one age group or cohort in the population. A cohort is usually defined in terms of year of birth, or a range of years. Individuals from a particular cohort (sometimes called a generation) share a common set of experiences that separate them from others preceding or following them in historical time.²⁵ Each cohort grows up with different experiences, attitudes, skills and values. The baby boomer cohort grew up in an era of post-war austerity which changed to an era of prosperity at they entered the labour market. In addition, the contraceptive pill heralded new sexual freedoms, with illicit drug and alcohol consumption became more widespread and acceptable, especially for women.

Ageing effects occur in individuals as they grow older, regardless of historical time. Menopause is an obvious example of an ageing effect. We can only talk about ageing effects in alcohol consumption where we have longitudinal data showing that individuals reduce their consumption of alcohol as they age.

Because of the reliance in the UK on cross-sectional data (people of different ages being sampled at one point in time) it is very difficult to separate ageing and cohort effects when considering age differences in alcohol consumption. In other words, in a cross-sectional study we cannot say if an age 'difference' is due to an age 'change'. Nevertheless, this is a very important issue. If it can be shown that there is evidence of a cohort effect, this is likely to mean a change in the drinking patterns of future generations of older people with a consequential impact on their health in later life.

Conclusion

The large cohort known as the baby boomers are about to enter old age. There has been much speculation about how this cohort will behave in old age, as well as how healthy the baby boomers are likely to be as old people. This chapter introduces another important area of speculation, namely the role of alcohol consumption as a factor in healthy and successful ageing. Unlike most reports on alcohol and older adults, this report does not focus on alcohol problems, but instead takes a public health approach. The aim of the report is to explore the hypothesis that the relatively high levels of alcohol consumption of the baby boomers may be carried into old age and that these levels may pose a real threat to the health of the baby boomers in old age.

Chapter 2 Alcohol Consumption and Ageing

Alcohol Consumption and Ageing

Summary

When comparisons are made at one point in time of people of different ages, it appears that mean levels of alcohol consumption, proportions exceeding weekly limits, and problems associated with alcohol consumption decrease with age. Unfortunately, most of the data available are cross-sectional and data of this nature do not allow the separation of ageing and cohort effects. In other words, successive cohorts are drinking more and the percentage in successive cohorts exceeding recommended weekly limits is increasing. There are two points to keep in mind, therefore: (1) there is evidence that successive cohorts are consuming more alcohol when younger and (2) successive cohorts are taking these higher levels of drinking more when older is unlikely to be beneficial. Thus, it can be concluded with some certainty that the higher levels of alcohol consumption of the baby boomers could well be a threat to compression of morbidity and healthy ageing.

- Older people report drinking smaller quantities than middle aged people, who report drinking less than younger people, but it is unknown if this is an ageing or cohort effect.
- Patterns of drinking change with age. Compared with younger people, older people are more likely to drink every day and less likely to binge drink.
- Exceeding recommended limits appears to decline with age, but a substantial minority of people aged 65 and over drink in excess of recommended weekly limits.
- However, consumption of alcohol amongst cohorts of older people has been rising over time, suggesting that people may take patterns of drinking from a younger age into old age.

Introduction

To examine the potential threat that alcohol presents to healthy ageing this chapter considers questions relating to the amount and patterns of alcohol consumption across all age groups and over time, the extent to which recommended sensible drinking levels are exceeded, and whether successive generations of older adults are consuming more alcohol. The aim of the chapter is to determine whether or not the baby boomers will drink less when they are old than they currently do, or if they will carry their current levels and frequency of alcohol consumption past retirement and into old age.

Q1. Does the amount of alcohol consumed change as people grow older?

A1. The amount of alcohol consumed appears to decrease as people get older. Older people report drinking smaller quantities than middle-aged people, who report drinking less than younger people. It is unknown if this is an ageing or cohort effect. The current generation of older people may have consumed less when young and have carried that level of drinking into old age.

Evidence

In Scotland, mean weekly consumption for men aged 65 to 74 in 1998 was 13.5 units, compared with 23.4 units for those aged 16 to 24. For women this was 2.8 units per week compared with 10 units in the younger group, Figure 2.1.²



Figure 2.1. Mean weekly alcohol consumption (units) across age groups in Scotland. Source SHS 1998 ²

Q2. Does the pattern of drinking alter with age?

A2. Yes. Older people are more likely to report drinking every day, despite the fact that they are likely to drink less per week in terms of quantity of alcohol as well as to abstain. Older people tend to report more routine-based consumption patterns, both in terms of how often and how much they drink, and are less likely to binge drink.*

Evidence

The percentage of people drinking daily in Scotland increases with age among both men and women, although this is more pronounced in men.² Given that older people are more likely to abstain, frequency of drinking is thus more 'polarised' among older people at the extreme ends of the distribution, with a large group never drinking and another drinking almost daily (Figure 2.2).

In addition to the frequency of consumption, stability of drinking patterns in terms of quantity drunk on a drinking day is likely to increase with age (Figure 2.3).





^{*} Drinking an excessive amount on any one occasion. There is no commonly-accepted definition, but the SHS uses the criterion of drinking more than twice the recommended daily benchmark on a person's heaviest drinking day (more than 8 units for men and 6 units for women).²



Figure 2.3. Percentage of people in Scotland aged 18-24 and 65-74 who report drinking the same amount on each drinking day, 1998. Source: SHS 1998²

Q3. Does the likelihood of exceeding recommended daily or weekly limits decline with age?

A3. Yes, older age cohorts are less likely to report exceeding recommended limits. However, although the proportion of people exceeding recommended weekly limits appears to decline with age, a substantial minority of people aged 65 to 74 still report drinking more than these limits.

Evidence

Younger people in Scotland aged 16 to 24 are most likely to exceed weekly limits, but 21% of men and 4% of women aged 65 to 74 also exceed these limits (Figure 2.4). Similarly, the proportion of people reporting binge drinking on their heaviest drinking day in the last week also declines with age, but a sizeable number of men aged 65 to 74 still binge.²



Figure 2.4. Percentage of males and females exceeding weekly limits in Scotland (21 and 14 units per week, respectively). Source SHS 1998²

Q4. Does the proportion of people with alcohol 'problems' decline with age?

A4. Yes, the proportion of people with alcohol problems declines by age cohort.

Evidence

Although the proportion of people with alcohol problems, as assessed in the 1998 SHS, declines with age, 7% of Scottish men and 2% of Scottish women aged 65 to 74 scored positively on an alcohol problems screening tool in 1998 (Figure 2.5).² It is not possible to tell if this represents an increase over time because the 1995 SHS did not include people over 65.



Figure 2.5. Percentage of adults in Scotland considered to be problem drinkers in 1998. Source SHS 1998²

Q5. Has alcohol consumption amongst older people increased over time?

A5. Yes. Mean levels of alcohol consumption by older people, plus the numbers of older people exceeding the recommended weekly limits, have increased over the past twenty years.

Evidence

Between 1992 and 2000, across all age groups in the UK, except for males aged 25 to 44, mean weekly consumption increased (Figure 2.6).³ Additionally, between 1988 and 2000 the number of people in the UK in all age groups, except for males aged 25 to 44, exceeding the recommended weekly limits has been increasing (Figure 2.7).*

^{*} It is not possible, however, to investigate similar trends specifically in Scotland as there are no comparable data available between these time periods.





age group

45-64

65 and over

25-44

0-

16-24


Figure 2.7 Percentage exceeding recommended weekly limits in UK by sex and age: 1988-2000. Source: GHS 2000 ³

Q6. Is the lower number of older people exceeding weekly recommended limits an ageing or a cohort effect?

A6. Although a definitive answer to this question cannot be provided by the data currently available, projecting the trend of increased numbers of older people exceeding recommended levels suggests that at least some of the age differences shown in this chapter can be attributed to cohort effects.

Evidence

Table 1.1 suggests that the current trend would be consistent with the cohort theory. If this trend continues until 2012, the people in the present 45-64 cohort will be over 65 and will have carried their drinking patterns forward.

Age	1988		2000		2012	
	male	female	male	female	male	female
25-44	32	13	29	17		
45-64	22	9	28	13		
65+	12	3	17	6	22	9

Table 1. Percentage exceeding recommended weekly drinking limits projected to 2012

Conclusion

Cohort studies indicate that older people report drinking less than younger people. It is not known if this is a cohort or an ageing effect. However, there is evidence that successive cohorts of old people are drinking more. There is growing evidence that alcohol consumption during the developmental years is particularly damaging. The baby boomers as a cohort probably started drinking at an early age compared to the current cohort of older people. Thus, it can be suggested with some confidence that the baby boomers are likely to drink more in old age than the current cohort of older people. Having started at an earlier age, the baby boomers will have consumed more over their life time. Having started to consume alcohol relatively early they will, therefore, have put their health in old age at even greater risk.

Chapter 3 Factors Influencing Drinking in Old Age

Factors Influencing Drinking in Old Age

Summary

A number of economic, cultural and social-psychological factors, plus attitudes and knowledge about alcohol that might impact on drinking in old age are reviewed in this chapter. Alcohol has become more available and acceptable and also more affordable in relation to disposable income. Retirement may reduce income but may also bring increased leisure time in which to drink and fewer social responsibilities to limit consumption. It has also been suggested that the stresses associated with ageing might be causally linked to an increase in drinking in old age. Gender, social class, life events, and changing norms for the context of alcohol consumption need to be taken into consideration when speculating about the impact of alcohol on current cohorts when they are older.

- Women in particular have been affected by the changing social context of drinking and by changing attitudes to the acceptability of drinking in public.
- Older people are more likely to drink alone.
- People in lower socio-economic groups appear to be more likely to exceed daily limits on their heaviest drinking day but those in higher groups may consume more on a weekly basis.
- People in deprived areas have higher rates of acute hospital and psychiatric admissions with alcohol-related problems.
- Stressful age-related life events may be implicated in relapse for those with established alcohol problems.
- Older people with alcohol problems may have had problems for some time but there is a small group of late onset drinkers.
- Older people, like younger people, see alcohol as an enjoyable social activity, view its effects as positive, but are less likely to have heard of alcohol units.

Introduction

This chapter examines a number of factors that might influence drinking in old age. Along with the usual socio-demographic factors that need to be taken into account (e.g., age, gender, social class), factors that are peculiar to old age are considered. Retirement, for example, has the potential of both increasing and decreasing the consumption of alcohol. As we age we also experience a number of negative life events that might influence drinking.

Q1. To what extent has the changing social context of alcohol consumption influenced drinking by older people?

A1. A number of important socio-cultural changes have occurred in recent decades that have resulted in increased availability and acceptability of alcohol. These include changes in attitudes, licensing laws, increased advertising, and the changing nature of entertainment and social activities. Alcohol has also become more affordable.

Evidence

An exploratory pilot study in the West of Scotland using semi-structured interviews examined the meaning and role of alcohol in the lives of people aged 50 to 83 and the factors that influence its use. Qualitative analyses of the data emphasised the complex nature of attitudes and beliefs about alcohol and the importance of the moral context. Participants identified key socio-cultural changes that have led to both increased availability and social acceptability of alcohol, particularly for women.²⁶⁻²⁹ These included important changes in the licensing laws, expansion of female-friendly pubs, increase of females in paid employment, increased alcohol marketing, and explosion in foreign travel. Alcohol has also become more affordable in relation to disposable income.³⁰

Q2. To what extent has the changing context of alcohol consumption differentially affected men and women across the age span?

A2. Women in particular have been affected by the changing social context of drinking and by changing attitudes to the acceptability of drinking in public. Older people are more likely to drink alone or with one other person, whereas younger people are more likely to drink in larger groups.

Evidence

The proportion of people who report drinking at home increases with age; in the 2000 Omnibus survey 62% of men and 70% of women aged 65 and over compared with 22% of men and 22% women aged 16 to 24 reported drinking at home on their heaviest drinking day.³¹ In contrast, the proportion of people drinking in pubs, bars and clubs declines with age; approximately a fifth of women and a third of men aged 65 and over, compared with four fifths of the 16 to 24 age group. Older drinkers also tend to drink with spouses and partners rather than with friends, which is more common amongst younger people.³¹ In the 2004 Omnibus Survey 25% of men and 6% of women over the age of 65 reported buying alcohol in a licensed bar, compared with 51% of men and 40% of women in the age 16-24 year age group.³²

Q3. Do stressful life events in later life influence alcohol consumption?

A3. The relationships between life events, age and alcohol consumption are unclear. Some stressors such as ill health or entering institutional care may be associated with reduced consumption, while others, such as loss of a spouse or friends or retirement, may bring initial increases followed by a reduction. Those who are already heavy drinkers appear more likely to deal with loss by drinking more and some infrequent or moderate drinkers may start to drink heavily and develop alcohol problems. The so-called 'late onset' problem drinkers make up an estimated 30-50% of older people with alcohol problems.

Evidence

Evidence on the influence of stressful events in later life comes from comparative studies within clinical settings, community population surveys and longitudinal studies.³³ Some clinical studies support the notion that age-related stressors generate drinking problems. When groups of older drinkers with alcohol problems have been examined those with a later onset of problems are more likely to attribute their drinking to stressful life events.^{34;35} However, this may be a socially desirable rationalisation on the part of drinkers. Indeed in studies that have utilised better methods of control, such as matching, these differences disappear.³⁶⁻³⁹ Where alcohol problems exist in later life stressful events do seem to consistently exacerbate these.^{40;41}

The best designed survey to date to address these issues directly is the US Erie County Elderly Drinking Survey.⁴² This telephone survey over-sampled heavy drinkers* amongst 2,325 respondents aged 60 years and over. Generally, more stress was associated with less drinking and no one stressor accounted for any more than 2%

of the variance in alcohol consumption. The best indicators of current consumption in the sample were positive correlations with drinking at age 40 and active lifestyle.

When late-onset drinkers are compared with drinkers not having alcohol problems, higher alcohol consumption, poorer functioning, higher reporting of negative life events and chronic stressors, fewer social resources, and greater use of avoidance coping have been reported.⁴³ However, when compared with early-onset drinkers, those with late-onset problems have lower alcohol consumption, less drinking problems, better functioning, and more benign life contexts than early onset drinkers.

Perreira and Sloan used data from four waves of the Health and Retirement Study to examine changes in alcohol consumption co-occurring and following stress associated with major health, family and employment events over a six-year period.⁴⁴ Their sample consisted of 7,731 (3,907 male) individuals between the ages of 51 and 61 years. Most (68%) did not change their drinking at all over the six years. The onset of a chronic medical condition or hospitalisation was associated with decreased drinking. Retirement was associated with increased drinking. Confusingly, getting married or divorced were associated with both increased and decreases in drinking. Previous problem drinking influenced the

^{*} Heavy drinking was defined as a mean daily intake of more than 1.0 oz of ethanol

association between some of the life events (e.g. divorce and retirement) and drinking. Gender modified the association between losing a spouse and changes in drinking. Perreira and Sloan concluded that, controlling for problem drinking history, social support and coping skills, changes in drinking behaviour are related to some life events.

Most reviews of the literature suggest that there is little evidence of an association between chronic or acute life stresses and amount of drinking in samples of elderly people.⁴⁵ There are, however, studies suggesting that moderate drinking might buffer the negative effects of minor life stresses on depression.⁴⁶ Research by Welte and Mirand has also suggested that attention needs to be paid to the interaction of active lifestyle, drinking and stress. Their research has shown that active lifestyle is associated with more drinking, but has protective effects against negative consequences.⁴⁷

Q4. Do socio-economic factors influence alcohol consumption by older people?

A4. Complicated relationships between socio-economic group, gender and age make it difficult to give a definitive answer.

Evidence

The 1998 SHS reported that for all men aged 16 to 74 taken as a whole, average weekly alcohol consumption and proportion of men exceeding weekly limits was similar across all social classes although slightly higher in social class V and lower in social class IIINM, Table 2. In contrast, differences existed in daily alcohol intake with men in manual classes (IIIM, IV and V) being more likely to exceed daily limits and binge on the heaviest drinking day during the week prior to the survey.²

	М	en	Women		
Social Class	Mean Weekly Consumption (units)	% Exceeding Weekly Limits (above 21 units)	Mean Weekly Consumption (units)	% Exceeding Weekly Limits (above 14 units)	
1	19.8	32	7.6	17	
II	19.2	33	7.4	16	
IIINM	16.2	28	6.2	13	
IIIM	19.5	34	6.2	12	
IV	19.6	33	6.0	12	
V	24.6	35	5.2	13	

TABLE 2. Male and female weekly consumption and proportion exceeding recommendedlimits by social class in Scotland, aged 16 to 74.Source: SHS 1998 (age standardised)²

^{*} Defined by occupation of the chief income earner

The situation differs for women. Those in social classes I and II reported both higher mean weekly consumption and were more likely to exceed the weekly limits (Table 2). In spite of this, women in social classes IV and V were more likely to exceed daily limits and binge on the heaviest drinking day during the week prior to the survey.²

When the percentage of men and women in different social class exceeding weekly limits is broken down into age groups clear differences are evident (Figure 3.1). Social class gradients exist but these differ between age groups.



Figure 3.1. Percentage of men and women in different social class exceeding weekly limits broken down into age groups. Source: SHS 1998²

Q5. What impact do socio-economic factors have on alcohol-related mortality and morbidity?

A5. Alcohol-related death rates across all age groups in Scotland are higher among men and women in the most deprived areas. Increased levels of deprivation are also associated with higher rates of both acute hospital and psychiatric inpatient admissions for people with an alcohol-related diagnosis.

Evidence

Alcohol-related death rates across age groups are seven times higher among men in the most deprived areas (Deprivation Category 7) than those in the least (Deprivation Category 1).¹ Among women, higher rates of alcohol-related deaths are also associated with increased levels of deprivation.¹ Increased levels of deprivation have been found to be associated with higher rates of both acute hospital (seven times higher in Deprivation Category 7 than in Category 1) and psychiatric (twice as high in Deprivation Category 7 compared with Category 1) inpatient admissions for people with an alcohol-related diagnosis.¹ The reasons for these differences are not known, but may be related to poorer social support, diet or even quality of alcohol amongst the most deprived.

Q6. To what extent do perceptions and knowledge about alcohol influence consumption by older people, or help-seeking when alcohol problems arise?

A6. There is relatively little research on this topic. Older people do not differ markedly from younger people on how they view alcohol; they share many of the misconceptions wider society holds. Moreover, older people view alcohol problems as something that happens to younger people. Some feel that they are old enough to know how much they can drink safely and that continuing to drink as they did in middle age will have little impact on their health. Alcohol is often believed to be 'medicinal'. Older people are also less likely to have heard of alcohol units than younger people, and there is evidence that they feel less confident about seeking help for alcohol problems.

Evidence

Focus groups conducted with older people have found that drinking was seen as an enjoyable, social activity; alcohol's effects on the body were perceived to be virtually all positive; and alcohol problems viewed as something that happened to younger people.⁴⁸ Problems were defined in dichotomous terms: alcoholic or not. Resistance to alcohol health education messages was also identified, mainly older people felt that they would know at their age what they could drink and most said they would drink while taking prescribed medicines. This research concluded that older people need accurate advice about drinking that is specific to them and recognised the likely barriers to these messages. Other focus group research has also found that conventional wisdom of older people can undercut current health promotion messages and that health promotion campaigns and activities may not be seen as relevant to them.⁴⁹ Over the past five years knowledge of alcohol units has grown amongst older people. In the 1997 ONS Omnibus Survey 56% of those over the age of 65 years said they had heard of measuring alcohol consumption in units. By 2004 this figure had risen to 68%. Younger people were more likely to have heard of alcohol units. In 1997 89% of those aged 16-24 reported knowing about alcohol units; interestingly, in the 2004 survey this figure had gone down to 83%.^{31;32} These age cohort differences in knowledge could be explained in two ways: (1) those with higher levels of consumption are more likely to be aware of units, (2) health promotion messages are not targeted at the elderly. On the whole it was true in 1997 that those who drank more than 8 units (6 for women) were more likely to know how much one unit was than those who drank only small amounts, but by 2004 there was no clear pattern of this kind.³²

The Scottish Executive, in preparation for its *Plan for Action on Alcohol Problems*, commissioned a survey of attitudes towards alcohol problems in Scotland. A third of the sample was over 55 years old. The most noteworthy age-related finding was that older people (in this case 55 and over) were less likely to feel confident about being able to contact a service for help with an alcohol problem.⁵⁰ There were no age-related differences reported in attitudes to alcohol or alcohol problems.

Q7. Does retirement influence alcohol consumption?

A7. For most people retirement is a positive event. The role of retirement in determining alcohol consumption levels and patterns is not well understood. With retirement comes a reduction in income, which may restrict ability, though not necessarily willingness, to drink. However, on the other hand, retirement also brings more leisure time in which to drink and fewer responsibilities, e.g. employment and childcare, which limit consumption.

Evidence

There is some evidence to suggest that alcohol consumption decreases around retirement age.⁵¹⁻⁵³ However, consumption data also suggests that those over 65 are more likely to drink every day (Chapter 2, Question 2).

A history of problem drinking has been reported to influence the relationship between life events such as retirement and divorce and result in changes in drinking patterns.⁴⁴ In an analysis of the US Health and Retirement study, onset of a chronic illness and hospitalisation were associated with increased alcohol consumption, as was widowhood, but only on a temporary basis.⁴⁴

Conclusion

Although it has been suggested that the stresses associated with old age may precipitate excess drinking, the evidence to date indicates that major negative life events are only implicated in relapse for those older people with established alcohol problems. However, the increased availability and accessibility of alcohol, combined with alcohol being more affordable in relation to income, ensures that there will be few barriers to the consumption of alcohol in old age for the baby boomers, especially those with good occupational pensions. Because it is no longer viewed as unacceptable for women to consume alcohol we can expect that alcohol will play a major role in the social lives of both men and women in retirement.

Chapter 4 Advantages and Disadvantages of Alcohol Consumption

Advantages and Disadvantages of Alcohol Consumption

Summary

This chapter examines what is known about the advantages and disadvantages of alcohol consumption for healthy ageing. Although alcohol is associated with many social and pleasurable events, it needs to be kept in mind that alcohol is a drug with toxic effects. Alcohol consumption is linked to a wide variety of adverse health consequences.

- Modest levels of drinking are not associated with poor health in old age. Indeed, very small amounts of alcohol daily may reduce the risk of coronary heart disease.
- In contrast, there are a very large number of physical disadvantages of alcohol consumption (e.g. liver and brain damage).
- The pattern of drinking is as important as the amount consumed. Moderate drinkers who occasionally binge drink substantially raise the risks to health associated with alcohol consumption.
- There are links between increased alcohol consumption and depression. The evidence suggests that depression is commonly secondary to increased alcohol consumption.
- Insomnia is a major problem among older people. Alcohol may worsen this further.
- Impaired brain function is more common in older then younger people who drink heavily and increases after the age of 55.
- There is no clear consensus on whether moderate levels of drinking have a protective effect on cognitive functioning in old age. The best study on this issue found that after controlling for baseline cognitive ability and educational attainment any protective effect from moderate drinking disappeared.
- Alcohol consumption increases the likelihood of a fall and other accidents, and thus a fracture. In excess, alcohol consumption is associated with osteoporosis.
- Hospital admissions associated with alcohol are increasing amongst those over the age of 65 years. This increase, if it continues, has important implications for the NHS.

Introduction

This chapter examines the advantages and disadvantages of alcohol consumption for healthy ageing. There is a growing body of evidence that light to moderate alcohol consumption is associated with some cardio-protective benefits. Interpretation of the findings are, however, not straightforward. While the explanations for why alcohol might be beneficial are plausible, several studies have shown that those who drink moderately also have a better diet and greater wealth. More importantly, 'moderate' drinking means quite low levels of alcohol consumption, levels which are lower than most people imagine. The pattern of drinking is as important as the amount consumed; moderate drinkers who occasionally binge drink substantially raise the risk levels for mortality. Apart from the obvious disadvantages of alcohol consumption such as cirrhosis of the liver, alcohol consumption is associated with depression, insomnia, and increased likelihood of a fall and thus a fracture. What, however, is unknown is whether drinking at the upper limits, or just beyond, the sensible drinking guidelines is likely to be a major threat to healthy ageing.

Q1. Is moderate alcohol consumption associated with healthy ageing?

A1. The answer to this question hinges on interpretation of the word 'moderate'. Research indicates that small amounts of alcohol do not have negative effects on mortality and morbidity. There is also a growing body of research evidence suggesting that moderate alcohol consumption may even be associated with healthy ageing. However, the term 'moderate' in many of these studies refers to low levels of alcohol consumption, lower than most people imagine, and certainly lower than the upper limit of the current recommended sensible drinking limits.

The issue of importance to this report is, however, not whether drinking a very low level of alcohol is better than abstention for healthy ageing, but the fact that there are many baby boomers who drink above the modest amounts of alcohol that appear to have beneficial effects. What we have been concerned with in this report is the question of whether drinking at the upper limits of, or just slightly beyond, the sensible drinking limits will negatively impact on healthy ageing (Figure 4.1 below) for the baby boomers.





The impact of moderate drinking levels on healthy ageing is certainly a very complicated issue and involves asking two questions: (1) Does moderate drinking reduce the likelihood of specific illnesses?, and (2) Does moderate drinking reduce all cause mortality? Alcohol consumption might reduce the risk of specific diseases, but increase the risk for others, resulting, overall in an increase in the risk of morbidity and mortality.

There is some evidence that those who abstain have slightly higher levels of all cause mortality than those who drink modestly. There is also a growing body of research evidence suggesting that light drinking reduces the risks of coronary heart disease. There are, however, problems in interpreting this data. It is difficult to control for confounding factors such as health status, diet, exercise etc, such that it can be concluded with absolute certainty that it is the alcohol that has the beneficial effects on health overall. Furthermore, much of the research on the relationship of alcohol consumption and health is concerned with mortality and not morbidity. The focus of this report is not on life expectancy, but compression of morbidity.

The answer to this question is also complicated by the fact that it is not just amount of alcohol consumed, but pattern of drinking. Occasional periods of heavy drinking by those who normally drink moderately appear to substantially increase the mortality and morbidity risks

Evidence

Several large population studies over the past 25 years have noted a J-shaped curve relationship between volume of drinking and all-cause mortality. ^{55-64,67} However, other studies find no such relationship. The Alameda county study in the US and a study of West of Scotland working men, initially aged 35-64 and followed up for 21 years, found no J-shaped curve.^{65;66} Furthermore, many of the epidemiological studies on this issue only studied men. The findings may, therefore, not apply to women.

It is important to carefully examine the consumption levels of those at the bottom of the curve. When this is done, it is clear that moderate consumption is on average about one or two units of alcohol per day. This is a figure that many people would regard as very light drinking. The research is also confusing in that the levels of consumption in drinkers found to have an improved health risk are different in different studies.⁵⁵⁻⁶⁶

Type of alcohol consumed

Overall the evidence is mixed as to whether or not the type of beverage consumed is important.⁶⁸ When the evidence first emerged suggesting that moderate drinking might reduce the risks of heart disease, it was generally thought that it was wine, particularly red wine, which was 'protective'.⁶⁹⁻⁷¹ Other studies, however, indicate that the type of drink does not matter.^{72;73}

Those who drink wine, might, of course, be different from those who drink spirits or beer in terms of gender, social class, or other characteristics that might be the main determinant of the better health of those who drink moderately. Many of the epidemiological studies on alcohol and morbidity have not been able to control for the confounding of factors that might be causal. A recent study, however, noted that wine drinkers, compared to spirit and beer drinkers, had better diets and concluded that it may be the better diets of the wine drinkers, and not the wine itself, which was associated with better health.⁷⁴

Type of disease

It seems to be generally agreed that if there is a protective effect from low daily doses of alcohol, it is largely because of a reduction of mortality from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease.^{62;75} Fuchs found that moderate alcohol intake in women with high risk factors for cardiovascular disease, including age, seemed to be protective.⁷⁶

Although modest alcohol consumption may appear to confer health benefits, it is worth emphasizing that alcohol misuse is the commonest cause of liver damage in the UK, the most serious condition being cirrhosis which occurs after many years of heavy consumption. The risk of liver disease increases as consumption rises. Men drinking more than 7.5 units and women more than 5 units of alcohol daily are at increased risk of liver damage; with advancing years the liver becomes less efficient and more vulnerable.⁷⁷ Long-term heavy drinking can also lead to chronic inflammation of the pancreas (pancreatitis), which can cause malabsorption, episodes of severe abdominal pain and, occasionally diabetes. The main systems of the body where alcohol most commonly causes serious problems are the liver, digestive system, brain and nervous system, and the heart and circulation.⁷⁸ Alcohol appears to have a small dose dependent effect on breast cancer.^{67;79}

Putative protective mechanisms

Research suggests that alcohol raises high density lipoproteins, lowers low density lipoproteins, and reduces platelet stickiness.⁸⁰⁻⁸² The effect on fibrinolysis, which results in the breakdown of small blood clots, seems to be dose-dependent. Low doses may be beneficial,⁸³ whereas eight glasses of wine (80g ethanol) the previous evening results in acute inhibition of fibrinolysis, persisting the following morning.⁸⁴ It has also been suggested that regular moderate alcohol consumption is associated with decreased insulin resistance and reductions in plasma homosysteine.⁸⁵

Pattern of drinking

It is not just the amount of alcohol consumed that determines the deleterious impact of alcohol, but the pattern of drinking. Moderate drinkers who occasionally binge drink substantially raise the risk levels of alcohol consumption.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸ Rehm *et al.* in a study in the United States found that all-cause mortality in light-to-moderate male drinkers (greater than 2 drinks per day) was about twice as high if they had occasional heavy drinking episodes.^{67;89}

Q2. Does drinking alcohol make depression in old age worse or better?

A2. There is almost no evidence to support the commonly held view that depression increases with age. As with other age groups, there is evidence that increased alcohol consumption leads to depression amongst older people. However, the picture is complicated in that light to moderate drinkers have less depression in the presence of stress.

Evidence

Major depression is at least four times more likely in people who drink heavily. It occurs in 8% to 12% of older people with problem drinking compared with 2% in the general elderly population.^{90;91} Drinking bouts induce depressive symptoms in many people with alcohol problems.^{92;93}

Symptoms of depression spontaneously remit with abstinence over a few weeks in the majority of cases without antidepressant treatment. This suggests that, in most cases, drinking excessive amounts of alcohol leads to depression rather than the other way around.^{94;95} However, minor degrees of depression can be aggravated by drinking to the point of meeting criteria for a depressive disorder and ongoing depressive symptoms may be a highly significant factor in sustaining problem drinking or inducing relapse in older people with alcohol problems.⁹⁶

Alcohol problems can also complicate adjustment reactions such as bereavement, delay a person's coping skills and result in prolonged depression. It is one of the best predictors of persistent depression at two years following the death of a spouse.⁹⁷ A typical scenario would be a major life event, e.g. loss of a loved one, housing change, financial or health problem, producing feeling of unhappiness for which the person drinks to find immediate relief. The person may have a pattern of doing this in the past. The reinforcing effects of this leads to increased alcohol use which may produce further, more long lasting, depressive symptoms either as a direct effect of alcohol or through alcohol-related social stressors such as rejection by friends because of drinking.

There is, however, some evidence that in the presence of stress, light to moderate drinking is associated with less depression.⁸⁵ A review of the literature by Baum-Baicker indicated that alcohol in moderate amount is effective in reducing stress.⁹⁸ Vasse *et al.* note that low and moderate doses of alcohol increase overall affective expression, happiness, euphoria, conviviality and pleasant and carefree feelings.⁹⁹

Q3. Does alcohol help older people sleep?

A3. Insomnia is a major problem amongst older people and, as a consequence, older people are the main users of sleeping tablets. Alcohol is known to disrupt sleep patterns. The use of alcohol as a sleep inducer is best avoided.

Evidence

The prevalence of insomnia increases steadily with age, with estimates ranging from 5% in those aged 18-30 to 30% amongst those over the age of 65. Increasing age is also associated with changes in the nature and duration of sleep complaints. Problems in getting to sleep predominate among young people, while staying asleep is more problematic amongst older people. Complaints of early morning waking increase with age. Although there is less information on incidence, the few studies that exist show that the incidence of insomnia increases with age.¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰²

Many older people use alcohol to relax and to help them sleep. However, alcohol is not a good hypnotic drug. Although it accelerates the onset of sleep and reduces wakefulness for the first 3-4 hours of sleep, it disturbs sleep patterns for the rest of the night, for example, it suppresses rapid eye movement sleep and produces frequent awakenings and non-restorative sleep.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁷

Snoring and obstructive sleep apnoeas (OSA) become more common with age. Amongst independently living elderly people almost a quarter experience OSA, with this rising to 42% of nursing home residents.^{108;109} OSA is associated with alcohol consumption, and can be worsened by benzodiazepine hypnotics.¹¹⁰ Men appear to be more susceptible than women to the effects of alcohol on breathing, probably because they tend to have narrower pharyngeal airways.¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ Once apnoea has occurred, the impairment of arousal due to the depressant effects of alcohol, leads to an increased duration of the apnoea, which, in turn, leads to increased hypoxemia. The haemodynamic changes that occur during apnoeas and subsequent arousals may contribute to cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease.^{114;115} Snoring, and by inference OSA, is associated with myocardial infarction, stroke and sudden death,¹¹³ though it has been argued that the relevance of sleep apnoea to public health has been exaggerated.¹¹⁶ Since alcohol is also a risk factor for vascular disease, the combination of alcohol and OSA may increase the risk for vascular morbidity.^{113;117}

Q4. Does drinking alcohol make it more likely that people will develop cognitive impairment or dementia when they get old?

A4. Impaired brain function is more common in older than younger people who drink heavily and increases after the age of 55. Alcohol-related brain damage (ARBD) seems to occur in over 50% of people with severe chronic alcohol problems. It can occur as a result of the following: (1) Direct effect of alcohol poisoning on the brain; (2) Deficiency of Vitamin B1 (Thiamine) from poor diet (this can cause memorising difficulty known as Wernike-Korsakoff syndrome); (3) Heavy drinking is a risk factor for vascular disease and head injury, both of which can cause or worsen brain damage.

It is therefore possible to say with confidence that drinking above recommended levels is associated with an increased risk of cognitive impairment in older people. There is little evidence that moderate levels of alcohol consumption provide a protective effect for cognitive functioning.

Evidence

Drinking more than four drinks per day doubles the risk of cognitive impairment over a six year period. Older people with alcohol problems have reduced cerebral blood flow, especially in the frontal area of the brain.¹¹⁸ Fifty to seventy percent of people with severe chronic alcohol problems show evidence of brain atrophy (shrinkage) on CT scan.¹¹⁹ Twenty nine percent of nursing home residents have been found to have a history of problem drinking. Of this group, 61% have evidence of brain damage and 14% have depressive symptoms.¹²⁰ In addition, where alcohol is not the sole contributor to a dementia, it is at least a partial contributor in at least 10% of cases.^{119;121} Some people who develop dementia lose awareness and control of drinking behaviours and tend to drink more, probably worsening their brain function as a result. It is difficult to separate out the role of alcohol from other conditions such as Alzheimer's disease without specialist assessment. To date the literature suggests that, although it is biologically plausible that alcohol increases the risk of developing dementia, epidemiologic studies have not supported this hypothesis.¹²²

Although studies agree that heavy drinking is clearly associated with cognitive impairment, there is controversy over the question of a protective role of moderate drinking.^{123;124} Some studies suggest that moderate drinking is associated with a slightly reduced risk of cognitive impairment ^{125;126 127;128} and dementia¹²⁹ compared with abstinence. While Galanis *et al.* agree,¹³⁰ they conclude that other health disadvantages of alcohol consumption may outweigh the benefits. Leibovici *et al.* found no benefit from moderate drinking and Zhou *et al.* found that any level of drinking was associated with poorer cognitive performance than abstention.^{131;132} The study by Goodwin and colleagues found that social drinking appeared to be associated with better performance on tests of cognitive functioning, but that when controls for age, sex, education and income were included the significant associations were eliminated.¹³³ Of particular interest is a study by Krahn *et al.* which found that, after adjusting for baseline cognitive ability and educational attainment, any apparent protective effect from moderate drinking disappeared.¹³⁴

Q5. Is alcohol consumption associated with an increased risk of broken bones because people are more likely to fall when they have been drinking?

A5. Alcohol consumption both increases the likelihood of a fall and thus a fracture and in excess is associated with osteoporosis.

Evidence

Alcohol causes diminished coordination and balance, increased reaction time, and impaired attention, perception and judgment, all of which increase the risk of accidents. In older people, the effects of alcohol may combine with other infirmities to heighten the risk yet further and older people are more likely to be victims of road traffic accidents as a pedestrian. Falls are a major cause of morbidity and mortality in elderly people, especially women, and a common cause of hospital admission.¹³⁵ Blood alcohol levels above 50mg per100ml greatly increase the risk of falling in adults.¹³⁶ Damage to nerves, especially to the legs and feet occurs in about 10% of chronic heavy drinkers and is thought to be due to a combination of vitamin B deficiency and the toxic effect of alcohol. It results in weakness, pain and numbness usually in the feet, all of which could increase the risk of falls.

There are mixed messages about the effect of alcohol on bones although generally studies support a detrimental effect of chronic alcohol abuse on bone mass and a possibly beneficial effect of light to moderate alcohol consumption in older females.¹³⁷ It is not yet understood why moderate doses of alcohol have been shown to have a positive effect on bone density. However, population based studies have not shown a positive association between alcohol and bone mass and no change or a decrease in the fracture risk.¹³⁸

Q6. Are alcohol-related hospital admissions for older people rising?

A6. Yes. In the UK about 15-30% of men and 8-15% of women of all ages admitted to general hospital in urban areas have alcohol-related physical problems: a large proportion are aged over 50. The crude rate of alcohol-related and attributable hospital admissions for people aged 65 and older in Scotland has increased steadily since 1981. This increase in hospital admissions associated with alcohol amongst older people has important implications for the NHS given the large increase in the number of older people over the next 20 years.

Evidence

Alcohol-related and attributable hospital admissions for people over 65 in Scotland have steadily increased in Scotland and more than doubled between 1981 and 1999 (Figure 4.2). Alcohol-related deaths across all age groups have risen from 1 in 100 in 1990 to 1 in 40 in 1999.¹ More than two-thirds of these deaths were among men, particularly in the 45 to 64 age group; however alcohol-related deaths among women have also doubled in the last decade. This suggests that increasing alcohol consumption is leading to an increase in alcohol related consequences.



Figure 4.2. Hospital admissions in the elderly in Scotland (ages 65+) for alcohol related & attributable conditions, crude rates per 100,000 population, 1981-2001. Source ISD SMR data

Conclusion

It is only at quite modest levels that alcohol appears to confer health benefits. The level at which alcohol confers health benefits is probably much lower than most of the baby boomers realize. Alcohol consumption exacerbates the problems that many people experience as they age and increases the already increased risk of falls. Hospital admissions for alcohol related problems have been increasing for a number of years. Although it is unknown if drinking at the upper limits of, or just beyond, the sensible drinking limits will be a major threat the healthy ageing for the baby boomers, it can probably be concluded that to remain healthy in old age the baby boomers should ensure that they drink at very modest levels.

Chapter 5 Alcohol and Medicines in Old Age

Alcohol and Medicines in Old Age

Summary

This chapter reveals an increased potential for health problems in old age due to a combination of medications – both prescribed and over-the-counter – and alcohol. The consequences of this are that the medicines taken may not be as clinically effective as they would otherwise be, or may have more adverse effects. For example, some drugs taken for high blood pressure, may have a greater effect than usual if taken with alcohol. The unpleasant side effects, particularly when getting up suddenly from a bed or chair, may lead people to discontinue to take the medicines leaving them at greater risk of experiencing a heart attack or stroke. Similarly some of the non-insulin anti-diabetic treatments have a greater effect when taken with alcohol, and patients will experience unexpected 'hypos'. A different sort of example is where both alcohol and the drug have similar effects which combined together can be dangerous. This is seen with drugs which have a sedative effect, such as some antidepressants, and combined with even small amounts of alcohol this will have a much greater effect on a person's ability to drive or operate appliances.

- Alcohol and medications are metabolised differently in older people than in younger people.
- Normal therapeutic doses of some drugs may have greater effects on older people.
- Over a third of those over 75 take four or more medications.
- More than half of people taking prescribed medication also drink alcohol.
- Many medicines interact with alcohol. Sedation and drowsiness may be worsened by alcohol and other unpleasant interactions may occur.
- There is evidence of insufficient review of medications prescribed for older people and that alcohol is not taken into consideration when prescribing.
- Older people may modify their routine for taking medications in order to drink alcohol. This may result in impaired compliance with medication.

Introduction

By the time the baby boomers reach old age there will be a large range of medications for the diseases of old age. Many prescribed and non-prescribed medicines react with alcohol with differing severity of consequences. As we get older we are more likely to take medications that interact with alcohol, and for these reactions to be more significant. The aim of this chapter is to raise awareness of the interactions between alcohol, ageing, and the drugs we are likely to take. It is noted that there is evidence of insufficient review of medications prescribed for older people and that alcohol is not taken into consideration when prescribing. Interestingly, older people may modify their routine for taking medications in order to drink alcohol. This may result in impaired compliance with medication.

Q1. Why is the combination of alcohol and medications a special issue for older adults?

A1. Despite the anatomic and physiologic changes that occur with ageing, no clinically significant decreases in drug absorption have been recognised, compared to younger age groups. After absorption, however, age-related changes in the body result in both drugs and alcohol being metabolised differently than for younger people. This may mean that the actions of both drugs and alcohol are greater than might have been expected for the dose taken. Where both drugs and alcohol have similar effects this enhanced activity may have significant consequences for the individual. Thus, as the body composition changes with advancing years, normal therapeutic doses of drugs may become toxic. As well as important age-related changes in the way a drug is metabolised by the liver there are changes in the way a drug is distributed throughout the body and eliminated by the kidneys. Additionally, pharmacodynamic changes – the way organs respond to drugs – are also thought to be related to age changes

Evidence

The greater proportion of fatty tissue in the elderly causes extension of the drug half-life of fat soluble drugs, such as the barbiturates and some benzodiazepines. Decreased proportions of body water similarly increase the serum concentrations of water-soluble drugs such as ethanol.¹³⁹ Likewise decreased plasma proteins in older people reduce levels of protein bound (inactive) drugs, increasing the chances of dose related toxicity.¹⁴⁰ A steady decline in liver function with age particularly impairs the first pass metabolism of drugs, including alcohol, which will alter anticipated blood levels and drug elimination. Drug elimination is mainly determined by renal function which is again impaired with age.¹⁴¹ There is an increased receptor response to some drugs, such as benzodiazepines, resulting in increased sedation, or opiates producing greater analgesia and respiratory depression.¹⁴¹

Q2. What proportion of older people are taking prescribed medications and what are the most common drug treatments?

A2. Nearly half of all drugs prescribed are for those over 65 and more than a third of those over 75 take four or more medications. The most commonly prescribed drugs for older people are antihypertensives, treatments for respiratory disease, antidepressants, anticoagulants, antidiabetics and analgesics. Older people are also more likely to take drugs for sleeping problems than younger people, although the prescribing rates of these drugs in general has decreased dramatically. Studies indicate that more than half of those taking prescribed medications also drink alcohol. There is also concern about the large numbers of people who consume alcohol with over-the-counter (proprietary) medications.

Evidence

In the UK, people over 65 represent 18% of the population but receive 45% of all prescribed medications¹⁴² and 36% of those over 75 years take four or more regular prescribed medications.¹⁴³ A three year prospective study of new elderly patients seen at home found that a third were taking four or more different medicines daily.¹⁴⁴

A community-based study in the US documented the frequency of alcohol consumption and concurrent use of medication. Whilst 43% of responders abstained from alcohol, the remainder reported using alcohol. A quarter of the sample were considered to be at risk from alcohol-drug interactions. The most common risk combination was between over-the-counter pain killers and alcohol (19%).¹⁴⁵

Research in the US suggests that a large share of prescriptions for older people are psycho-active mood changing drugs (for example benzodiazepines, antidepressants and opiate analgesics) that carry potential for misuse or dependency¹⁸⁵ and interact with alcohol. Older people are also more likely to take drugs for sleeping problems. In addition there are an increasing number of drugs in these categories now available OTC (e.g. oral non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), opiate analgesics, antihistamines), compounding the polypharmacy regimes. Of some concern is the fact that OTC medicines are used without formal medical supervision, are often used outwith the OTC product licence (i.e., are used at higher than recommended doses, taken for non licensed indications or taken on a chronic basis¹⁴⁶) and the GP may even be unaware of their use.

Q3. Which medicines interact with alcohol?

A3. Many medicines, both prescription and over the counter, interact with alcohol. These interactions may increase the effect of a medicine (e.g. the sedative effect of an hypnotic), exacerbate a side effect (e.g. the drowsiness associated with anti-histamine use), or result in a new syndrome (e.g. the unpleasant effects of combining alcohol and some antibiotics). Because of the different severity of these interactions, some will require total abstinence from alcohol, whilst others will require modified behaviour. Many of the drugs used as first line treatments for the most common conditions in the over 65s listed above interact with alcohol making it more likely that the medication taken by people over 65 may negatively interact with alcohol.¹⁴⁷ The pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic changes described above may further exacerbate these interactions.

Evidence

The best documented interactions are listed in the British National Formulary (BNF) from which Table 5 in Annex B is derived. Major upper gastro-intestinal bleeding (UGIB) is the most important adverse effect of aspirin and other NSAIDS, such as ibuprofen, which are both available over-the-counter. Alcoholic beverages also precipitate UGIB so people who take these drugs and drink alcohol are at an increased risk of a UGIB and potentially suffering other negative health implications.¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵³

Q4. Is alcohol consumption taken into consideration when medications are prescribed to older people?

A4. There is some evidence of insufficient review of medications prescribed for the elderly and, furthermore, that alcohol is not taken into consideration when prescribing medications.

Evidence

In a study of primary health care consultations in Sweden, 70% of patients had never been questioned about any lifestyle item (including alcohol consumption).¹⁵⁴ Cartwright also reports that GPs are often unaware that their patients drank alcohol, lived alone, or drove, even when they were taking prescribed medicines for which drinking or driving were contraindicated.¹⁵⁵ More recent research has also identified insufficient review of the repeat medication regimes of older people.¹⁵⁶

Q5. Do older people comply with advice not to drink alcohol when taking medicines?

A5. The few studies found suggest a complex decision-making process whereby older people modify their medications if they intend to 'have a drink'. This delicate trade off means that participants feel they can still have a drink while at the same time satisfying GP instructions not to mix medications with alcohol.

Evidence

It has been estimated that up to 75% of older patients fail to comply with their prescribed medication.¹⁵⁷ Unintentional non-compliance may result from practical difficulties, such as inability to open packs or difficulty swallowing large tablets. Forty percent of elderly have problems accessing their medicines from the containers or packaging in which they are supplied.¹⁵⁸ Arthritis, poor eyesight, and memory lapses can also make it difficult for some older adults to take their medications correctly.¹⁵⁹ Studies have shown that between 25% and 50% of particular groups of older people do not, or cannot, take all of their medications as prescribed.¹⁶⁰ Alterations in biological sensitivity to drugs may also influence the tendency for and problems from non-compliance: larger effects from smaller doses could discourage consumption, or lead to problems at consumption rates that caused no difficulty earlier in life.¹⁶¹

In a qualitative study accounts of taking prescribed medicines were analysed and presented as a model of decision-making. A large group of patients were found to modify their medication regimes in a systematic way, reducing/omitting doses and self-assessing the effect of these changes prior to continuing.¹⁶² More recently, a University of Paisley exploratory study found participants seemed to be aware of potential side effects of combining alcohol and medications, and some had experienced them, but had developed their own integral logic, enabling them to have a drink whilst still adhering to instructions. Participants reported different strategies which involve modifications of their regimens such as doubling up doses prior to going out for a drink and stopping taking medications a few days before.¹⁶³

Conclusion

When the baby boomers reach old age there will be a very large number of medications available that were not available to previous cohorts of older people. Although warnings not to consume alcohol with medications are given, a significant number of people ignore these warnings. This is particularly problematic for older people given that both alcohol and medications are metabolized differently compared to younger people. There is also some evidence that people stop taking their medications in order to consume alcohol, creating further health risks. To all of this is added the risks of taking over-the-counter (proprietary) drugs with alcohol. Health professionals need to be vigilant when prescribing medications and to ensure that alcohol consumption is discussed. Older people need to be given more information about the risks of consuming alcohol with proprietary drugs as well.

Chapter 6 Looking into the Future

Looking into the Future

Summary

This chapter considers the impact on the health services if 10%, 20% and 5% of the aged baby boomers consumed more than the recommended weekly limits of alcohol. Although it would be especially problematic if 20% consumed more than recommended limits, leading to over 300,000 alcohol related hospital admissions per year, a reduction to 5% would be more manageable. Evidence on the effectiveness of a range of methods aimed at reducing alcohol consumption was considered, with the chapter ending with a brief note on rights and responsibilities.

- If the 20% of the baby boomers who currently exceed the recommended drinking limits exceed the recommended limits in old age, it is predicted that alcohol related hospital admissions will rise to 346,190 per year in Scotland.
- If only 5% of the baby boomers exceed the recommended drinking limits in old age, it is predicted that alcohol related hospital admissions will be in the region of 85,547.
- Taxes, prices and other methods of regulating alcohol consumption such as opening hours and the amount of alcohol in beverages have all been found to be effective in reducing alcohol consumption.
- Education and persuasion are popular methods aimed at controlling alcohol consumption, but the research evidence indicates that they are not very effective.
- Brief interventions following opportunistic screening have been shown to be effective in reducing heavy drinking to more moderate levels.
- Freedom to consume alcohol may be regarded by some as a 'right', but with rights come responsibilities such as not becoming a burden on the state or one's family because of excessive alcohol consumption.

Introduction

The Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group set as its task examination of the potential impact of the current level of alcohol consumption by the baby boomers on their future health. The objective was to explore the hypothesis that the current, and relatively high, levels of drinking amongst the baby boomers may be carried into old age and that these levels of alcohol consumption may pose a real threat to the health of future generations of old people. It is acknowledged that the research base for most of the questions posed is limited and, thus, this report is speculative. Nevertheless, after consideration of the research the conclusion reached is that this report addresses a very important issue, one that NHSScotland and the Scottish Executive need to tackle. This report asks health and social care professionals, those involved in health promotion, and the Scottish government to look into the future. The future, however, need not be gloomy. Instead of huge burdens on the NHS because of high levels of alcohol consumption, there could, if people act now, be a future with not only extended life expectancy, but also compression of morbidity into the last few years of life.

Possible Futures

The baby boomers grew up in a very different world from the generation that immediately preceded them – those currently in old age. Those who are now over 65 were raised at a time when alcohol consumption in Scotland was at a low point. Since the 1960s there has been an almost uninterrupted increase in per capita consumption throughout the UK. During the past 50 years alcohol has become more available, less controlled, and relatively cheaper. The impact of this change has been most evident for women, who have attained greater spending power and independence at work and leisure.

The baby boomers have lived within an environment of acceptance and encouragement of alcohol use that was not evident to an earlier generation. Beverage choice has also changed, with the availability of wine showing unprecedented growth. Cross-sectional research suggests that as people age they reduce their alcohol intake. However, the problem with this research is that it is impossible to separate ageing effects from cohort and period effects. Thus, it may be that the current cohort of old people may have consumed much less when younger and middle aged and have carried this pattern into old age.

If the baby boomers start with a higher level of consumption, reduction of intake may still leave them consuming at levels that will put their health in old age at risk. If they, because of their relative wealth in retirement, combined with more time during the day to consume alcohol, continue to drink at their current levels, the impact will be even greater. The hoped-for compression of morbidity may not happen because of the high levels of alcohol consumption of the baby boomers.

A question of fundamental importance to the report is whether or not alcohol consumption can be viewed as a distinct threat to healthy ageing. In recent years the media have reported a number of epidemiological studies suggesting that moderate alcohol consumption may be positively good for health. However, careful examination of the research leads to the conclusion that there is little direct evidence

that moderate consumption of alcohol confers significant benefit. Those who drink only small amounts of alcohol also tend to have healthier diets and may be more likely to engage in other behaviours that account for their better health. Studies indicating that those who abstain are at greater risk of ill health than those who drink moderately have rarely been able to control for the fact that abstainers may be ex-alcoholics or may not be drinking because of poor health, nor for a large number of other, possibly related factors. However, although the research evidence is not strong, it is necessary to acknowledge that the consumption of *very small* amounts of alcohol may slightly reduce the risk of cardiovascular or cerebrovascular disease. The reduction in the risk of cardiovascular or cerebrovascular disease may, however, be outweighed by the increase in risk for other diseases, for accidents, or for cognitive impairment. Thus, this report is premised on the view that alcohol consumption has the potential for being a major threat to healthy ageing.

Whether or not alcohol consumption threatens healthy ageing depends, of course, on the amount consumed. Thus, an aim of the literature review was to determine to what extent the current cohort of older people, as well as the future cohorts of old people, are likely to exceed recommended daily and weekly limits. Although there is little research on this issue, and a number of problems associated with the quality of that research, there are certainly several studies indicating that a high proportion of older people exceed recommended daily and weekly limits. Furthermore, various surveys indicate that over time successive cohorts of older people are drinking more than people of the same age at earlier time periods. In addition, the baby boomers are drinking considerably more than old people. These studies point to a strong possibility that the baby boomers will be consuming alcohol at high levels up to, and well into, advanced old age.

Implications – Thinking Ahead

Given what is well known about the negative effects of alcohol on health, the research points to a high probability that the baby boomers, unless they reduce their intake, may not witness significant compression of morbidity. Given that the baby boomers are predicted to live well into their 80s, there could be serious implications for the NHS and other service providers. An ageing population and changing patterns of alcohol consumption have led to suggestions that there will be a future increase in the number of older people with alcohol problems. The greater vulnerability of older people to the toxic effects of alcohol may expose them to greater alcohol-related harm, including accidents and subsequent morbidity. It is also argued that current alcohol-related problems among older people may even be underestimated.¹⁶⁴ Increasing alcohol consumption among future cohorts of older people may exacerbate this risk.

It has been argued that even if current prevalence rates of problem drinking in the UK were to remain at an estimated 3 to 4% of the older population,¹⁴⁷ the actual number of people with alcohol problems would increase because of the greater numbers of older people as the population ages.¹⁶⁵ Both the quantity and frequency of alcohol consumption and, thus, rates of alcohol problems, are higher in older men than in older women. However, when considering increased consumption among women, a 'telescoping' effect has been noted whereby females may progress faster in the development of alcohol problems than men.¹⁶⁶

Rising alcohol consumption and future alcohol-related problems

At present approximately 10% of people over the age of 65 years in Scotland, i.e. 80,700, exceed recommended weekly drinking levels. Present data suggest that about 20% of the current 45-65 year group also exceeds these levels. Even if this cohort reduces its drinking so only 10% exceed these levels, this 10% will represent 111,750 people in 2031 and an increase of 38.5% of alcohol problems in old age. If, on the other hand, the 45-65 year group does not reduce intake, there would be 223,500 people exceeding the recommended limits in 2031, almost three times the current numbers. The implications of three times the number of alcohol-related problems in older people would have a major impact on resources. However, with a concerted health education campaign, it should be possible to reduce the numbers needed to be treated to more manageable levels, Table 3.

	2001 10% exceed limits	2031 10% exceed limits	2031 Worst Case 20% exceed limits	2031 Best Case 5% exceed limits
Numbers over age 65 in Scotland	807,000	1,117,500	1,117,500	1,117,500
Number exceeding recommended weekly limits	80,700	111,750	223,500	55,875
Alcohol-related hospital admissions per year	125,000	173,097	346,190	86,547

Table 3. Possible future numbers of people over 65 exceeding weekly limits and alcoholrelated hospital admissions in Scotland.

Alcohol misuse has been estimated to cost the NHS in Scotland £95.6 million at 2001/2002 prices.¹⁶⁷ The annual societal costs, which also includes costs to social work services, criminal justice and emergency services, wider economic costs and human costs, in addition to NHS costs, are estimated to be considerably larger, being £1070.60 million at 2001/2002 prices. These figures, however, are likely to be under-estimates.

Reducing alcohol consumption

It is probable that current efforts to reduce alcohol consumption and problems, both in the population at large and amongst baby boomers in particular, will at best only be partially successful. Measures to further reduce alcohol consumption and to address some size of increase in alcohol problems amongst older people will, therefore, be needed. The success or otherwise of measures to reduce consumption will determine the scale of response needed to tackle the increase in alcohol problems in older people. We try to answer three more questions in this last section

Q1. What could government do to reduce at risk drinking by the baby boomers?

A1. Government can deliver a wide range of interventions to reduce consumption and the harm associated with alcohol. Taxation, price controls, licensing and other methods of regulating the availability have all been used successfully to reduce alcohol consumption and alcohol related problems. Education and persuasion have been less successful. However, most educational programmes have also been aimed at young people, i.e. those who believe they are immortal. It may be that health education has greater potential once people reach an age at which they become aware of illness and death.

Evidence

There is now a large body of evidence to support a range of strategic interventions in reducing alcohol consumption and the harm associated with drinking that Governments could adopt.^{67;168} None of this exclusively targets the baby boomers, but should effect the entire drinking population. Given the growing body of evidence for period effects on alcohol consumption,¹⁶⁹ strategies aimed at whole populations can be expected to have at least some influence on specific age groups.

Taxes and prices

Some countries control alcohol problems via alcohol taxes and prices. Regulations on taxes and prices are relatively easy to establish in law and to enforce in practice. Although there are substantial differences between countries, and within countries over time, in the way consumers have reacted to changes in prices, several studies have demonstrated that increased alcohol taxes and prices are related to reductions in alcohol use and related problems.⁶⁷

Regulating the availability of alcohol

There is a growing body of research demonstrating that reducing the hours and days of sale, numbers and types of outlets, and other restrictions of access to alcohol (e.g. the amount of alcohol in beer) reduces consumption and alcohol related problems.⁶⁷ Examples include the 46% increase in alcohol consumption in Finland when there was a change in selling beer in government monopoly stores to selling beer in private stores.¹⁷⁰ Raising the minimum alcohol purchasing age has been found to reduce alcohol use and to substantially reduce traffic accidents in the United States.¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³ To date research suggests that prevention regulations aimed at commercial sellers of alcohol, with back-up legal enforcement, are more effective in reducing consumption and alcohol problems than education directed at individuals.⁶⁷

Education

Unfortunately, most of the research on the impact of educational and persuasion strategies, the most popular strategies that governments adopt, indicates that such strategies have failed to meet their objectives.⁶⁷ Although public service announcements and campaigns provide important information dealing with responsible drinking, the hazards of drink-driving, and other related topics, to date they appear to be relatively ineffective as an antidote to the high quality, prodrinking advertisements that appear regularly in the mass media.^{174;175} However, there is some evidence that intensive and hard-hitting counter advertising in the field of cigarette smoking has significant effects, at least in the short term.¹⁷⁶ Political pressure, however, undermines such programmes.¹⁷⁷ The alcohol drinks lobby is quite powerful in the UK and it could be assumed that considerable pressure would be put on the government and health promotion agencies to withdraw counter advertising.

Warning labels, in particular those warning of the risks during pregnancy and the dangers of operating machinery and driving cars after consuming alcohol, appear to have raised awareness as evidenced from responses in surveys, but there is almost no research on the impact of warning labels on consumption or alcohol related problems.^{67;178} Babor *et al.*, however, note that given the small size and obscurity of warning labels it is surprising that warning labels have been observed to have at least some impact.⁶⁷

Although the general view is that educational programmes have had little impact on the consumption of harmful levels of alcohol, it is also widely acknowledged that few of the evaluations that have been conducted are methodologically sound.^{67,179;180} Although it is tempting to conclude, as have others, that the weight of negative evidence is greater than the small positive findings that have emerged from evaluations of informational and educational programmes,⁶⁷ it could also be noted, in light of the fact that few evaluative studies have been conducted, that 'absence of evidence is not evidence of absence.'

Q2. What can health and social care professionals do to reduce at risk drinking by baby boomers and older people?

A2. Health and social workers could, if adequately trained and supported, opportunistically screen for at risk drinking amongst service users. Brief interventions for at risk drinkers have been found to be effective in reducing alcohol consumption to moderate levels. Brief interventions are characterised by low intensity and short duration and typically consist of one to three sessions of counselling and education, including motivation-for change strategies, goal setting, behaviour modification techniques, and the use of self-help manuals.

Evidence

The possibility of early identification and brief intervention have attracted widespread attention.^{67;181} A large number of trials have tested the effectiveness of brief interventions in primary care for reduction of harmful drinking.¹⁸² Brief interventions are characterised by low intensity and short duration and typically consist of one to three sessions of counselling and education, including motivation-for change strategies, goal setting, behaviour modification techniques,

and the use of self-help manuals.¹⁸³ These programmes aim to facilitate moderate drinking, rather than promote total abstinence.⁶⁷ Recently published clinical guidelines for primary care (SIGN Guidelines) recommend their use opportunistically in response to a range of presenting complaints.¹⁸⁴ These include some problems more common in older people; memory disorders, depression, anxiety disorders, falls, impotence, cancers, pancreatic and liver disease, and cardiovascular disease. This decision to opt for opportunistic intervention based on presentation, rather than population based screening, is particularly appropriate for older people. The lower prevalence of hazardous and harmful drinking by older people would make case finding by screening more expensive in relation to the expected benefit.

Research has shown that 10-30% of non-dependent problem drinkers reduce their drinking to moderate levels following a brief intervention by a physician or other clinician.¹⁸⁵ Gordon *et al.* have both tested brief interventions with older people and found similar results as those found with younger people.¹⁸⁶ A study by Kristenson *et al.*, of people under the age of 65 years in Malmo, Sweden demonstrated significant reduction in gamma-glutamyl transferase and health care utilization for up to five years after a brief intervention involving a series of health education visits aimed at reducing alcohol use.¹⁸⁷ A study conducted in GP practices in the UK found significant reductions in alcohol use by the brief intervention group compared with the control group 12 months after the intervention.¹⁸⁸

Beyond their immediate benefit to the individual patient it may be possible if such methods are employed consistently within a framework of policies that they could have a public health benefit in reducing alcohol consumption more widely in society and contributing to culture change.¹⁸⁹ It should not be forgotten that in addition to identifying hazardous and harmful drinkers that they can intervene directly with, professionals will also identify those with alcohol dependence who would benefit from specialist treatment if they are asking older people about their drinking.

Rights and Responsibilities

In the next chapter we make a number of recommendations as to what the government and health and social care professionals could do to reduce the negative impact of alcohol consumption on healthy ageing. Before we do this, it is important to comment on the balance between rights and responsibilities. There is much discussion about the UK becoming a 'nanny state', with increasing government intervention in our lives. People in Scotland attach considerable importance to being allowed to decide for themselves whether or not to adopt a healthy life-style. Screening for alcohol misuse is regarded by some as an unnecessary invasion of privacy, with controls over alcohol consumption an unacceptable infringement of rights to self-determination.

With rights, however, come responsibilities. A 'right' to drink as much as one chooses, whenever and wherever, also implies a responsibility not to harm others and, it could be argued, to not drink to the extent to which self-harm requires

excessive demands on the NHS. Most people in the UK can now expect to live well into their 80s if they adopt a reasonably healthy life-style. Although a healthy life style is usually chosen in order to ensure a good quality of life in old age, as well as a long life, the fact that we live in a country which provides its citizens with health services free at the point of entry, an entitlement which many view as a 'right', means that, as the beneficiaries of the NHS, it could be argued that we all have a responsibility to look after our health and to not take more than our fair share of the nation's health care resources.

Individuals can only take steps to age healthily if informed about the health impact of alcohol. This includes knowing that the effects of alcohol vary not only by gender, but by age. Knowing about the adverse effects of combining alcohol with medications is also important for healthy ageing. The problem, of course, is that the pleasures or 'reinforcements' for drinking alcohol are immediate, whereas the punishments or disadvantages of alcohol consumption are, for most people, far into the future. This is not only why health education campaigns seem to make little immediate impact, as well as why it is legitimate to intervene in people's lives 'for their own good'. Screening for alcohol problems and control of consumption via taxation and licensing can be ethically justified on utilitarian grounds (the greatest good for the greatest number), as well as on the grounds of 'doing good', i.e. the principle of beneficence.

Conclusion

If the baby boomers carry their current drinking patterns into old age there could be a quite dramatic increase in alcohol-related hospital admissions, something which would create serious difficulties for the NHS. There are, however, a number of methods that could be adopted to reduce alcohol consumption. Because education and persuasion have not been found to make a significant impact, taxation, pricing and other methods of regulating alcohol consumption need to be considered. Brief interventions by health care professionals have been effective across the age ranges.
Chapter 7 Recommendations

Recommendations

Summary

In this chapter one main recommendation and four subsidiary recommendations are made. The key recommendation is that recognition should be made of changes in the ability to metabolise alcohol with age and, as a consequence, age-based sensible drinking limits should be introduced. Most people are fully aware that how much alcohol an individual can safely consume depends on gender, height, weight, and age. The development of age-based sensible drinking limits will, therefore, be easily accepted. Indeed, it is the opinion of the Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group that very broad guidelines are ignored precisely because they are viewed by the public as too simplistic.

Given the difficulty that the Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group had in finding good research, further research is recommended. In the meantime, more health education on the effects of alcohol should be targeted towards middle-aged and older people. To help people make informed choices when they do drink, it is recommended that beverages containing alcohol should be labelled in units. In addition licensed premises should post notices of the number of units of alcohol in standard drinks. Health and social care professionals should opportunistically screen for at risk drinking and then, with proper training, offer brief interventions. It is also acknowledged that the most efficient method of bringing consumption levels down is via pricing, rather than education.

Recommendations:

- Key recommendation Age-based sensible drinking limits should be developed.
- More research on the use of alcohol by the baby boomers should be conducted. A cross-sequential longitudinal study is recommended.
- Education regarding alcohol targeted at the baby boomers should be provided.
- Training of health and social care professionals in opportunistic screening and brief interventions should be introduced.
- 'Unit of alcohol' labelling of beverages.
- Increase in price of beverages containing alcohol via taxation in order to reduce consumption.

Introduction

In this report it has been argued that alcohol consumption is a major threat to healthy ageing for the baby boomers. Although it is acknowledged that there are problems with the available evidence, it is suggested that there is evidence that age differences in drinking are due in part to cohort effects, not just ageing. As a consequence, it is possible to argue that the baby boomers may carry their current, and relatively high, levels of drinking into old age. As a cohort the baby boomers, because of good occupational pensions, will be relatively well off and will be able to afford to socialize in pubs and drink alcohol at home. While the baby boomers are very likely to reduce their consumption levels with age, they may, nevertheless consume at levels slightly above recommended limits. However, as we age our ability to metabolize alcohol changes, which means that the current 'sensible' limits might not be sensible for older people. Furthermore, when the baby boomers reach old age there will be even more prescription and over-the-counter medications which could improve the quality of life for those who are ill. Many medications interact negatively with alcohol; not taking medications in order to consume alcohol is also risky. With this in mind the Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group has made one key and five subsidiary recommendations.

Key recommendation – Age-based sensible drinking guidelines

In 1995 the Department of Health (DoH), in its report *Sensible Drinking*, examined current medical and scientific evidence and its interpretation on the longer-term effects of drinking alcohol.¹⁹⁰ The interdepartmental committee also considered whether the sensible drinking message should be reviewed. It concluded that moderate consumption of alcohol has beneficial effects and that there was sufficient evidence to suggest that women should drink less than men. No recommendations were made for age-based guidelines for sensible drinking. The recommendations of the committee for sensible drinking guidelines were as follows:

Men

- The health benefit from drinking alcohol relates to men aged over 40 and the major part of this can be obtained at levels as low as one unit a day, with a maximum health advantage lying between 1 and 2 units a day.
- Regular consumption of between 3 and 4 units a day by men of all ages will not accrue significant health risk.
- Consistently drinking 4 or more units a day is not advised as a sensible drinking level because of the progressive health risk it carries.

Women

- The health benefit from drinking for women relates to postmenopausal women and the major part of this can be obtained at levels as low as one unit a day, with the maximum health advantage lying between 1 and 2 units a day.
- Regular consumption of between 2 and 3 units a day by women of all ages will not accrue any significant health risk.
- Consistently drinking 3 or more units a day is not advised as a sensible drinking level because of the progressive health risk it carries.

Somewhat surprisingly, the Department of Health's interdepartmental committee suggested that abstainers might wish to consider consuming alcohol to reduce the risks of heart disease. This is not a recommendation that we would make. The view of the US National Institutes on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (2003) is more in line with our thinking:

"If you're are a nondrinker, however, you should not start drinking solely to benefit your heart. You can guard against heart disease by exercising and eating foods that are low in fat." (http://www.niaaa.hih.gov/faq/q-a.htm)

After consideration of the research base on the relationship between alcohol and ill health, and after over a year debating the implications of an increase in the numbers of older people and the desirability to compress morbidity as close as possible to death, we have concluded that the current recommended limits for sensible drinking are too high for middle-aged and older people. It is our view that compression of morbidity is unlikely to occur unless the sensible drinking limits are lower for older people. Furthermore, it is our view that, while many people do reduce their levels of consumption as they age, there is also a strong cohort effect. In other words, the baby boomers drank more when young and are likely to carry these patterns of consumption into old age.

The higher disposable income that many baby boomers will acquire also means that they will have the financial resources to maintain higher levels of alcohol consumption when they retire. This will not necessarily result in large increases in problematic behaviours, but drinking at the current sensible levels is very likely, in our view, to have a low level, but negative, impact on healthy ageing. The issue, therefore, is not that these relatively higher levels of drinking will shorten life, but that the baby boomers will have increased life expectancy characterised by higher than hoped for, or necessary, levels of illness and disability.

The development of age-based sensible drinking guidelines seems, in our view, to be needed in order to move towards a healthy old age for the baby boomers. It is our view that much lower levels of alcohol consumption are required for healthy ageing. This view is shared by the US National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism which recommends that those over the age of 65 drink no more than one drink per day. This is a level considerably lower than the levels noted above in the UK Department of Health's recommendations.

"The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, part of the National Institutes of Health, recommends that people over age 65 who choose to drink have no more than one drink a day. Drinking at this level usually is not associated with health risks." (http://www.nia.nih.gov/health/agepages/alcohol.htm)

We are not stating what the age based limits should be in this report. This needs to be a matter for another committee of experts, should our recommendation for age based sensible limits be accepted.

Subsidiary recommendations

1. More research on ageing with alcohol

It will come as no surprise to readers that we are recommending more research. The baby boomers are currently aged 40-60 (at the end of 2004). Thus, in order to follow the baby boomers into their 60s, such studies need to last for 30 years. Along with amount, frequency, etc, the role of life events (e.g., retirement, bereavement) in patterns of alcohol consumption should be examined. The role of alcohol in accidents and medication adherence and modification in relation to drinking should also be included. Time sequential research designs are recommended in order to separate cohort and ageing effects.

However, it is acknowledged that time sequential designs are expensive and, therefore, we recommend that at least some funding go into cross-sectional studies on the following: (a) attitudes and knowledge of alcohol across the age range, (b) public knowledge of the impact of ageing on the ability to tolerate and metabolise alcohol, and (c) the nature and pattern of alcohol consumption among people age 45-65.

Better use should be made of established data sources, in particular repeated surveys. National population surveys that examine alcohol consumption should include people over the age of 75 years, as well as provide greater differentiation of age groupings of older people. In the rare instance that longitudinal studies of ageing are commissioned in the UK, the inclusion of items on alcohol consumption and problems needs to be advocated.

2. More alcohol education aimed at middle-aged and older people

Middle-aged and older people need to be made aware of the impact of ageing on alcohol metabolism and the need to reduce consumption levels with age. An increase in awareness could be brought about through pre-retirement programmes. Health education focusing on alcohol should also include images of older people.

3. Training of health and social care professionals

Primary care and hospital care NHS staff must be trained in taking alcohol histories from all patients with particular reference to older people. Health care professionals should also be trained to explore patterns of alcohol consumption to prevent drug/ alcohol interactions. Although this report is concerned primarily with the raised levels of alcohol consumption of the baby boomers, rather than those addicted to alcohol, the group recommends that specialist alcohol services should be available to older people. At the moment such services are available mainly to those under the age of 65. However, in the future there could be many more older people with serious alcohol problems. These people should not be deemed to be unsuitable for treatment just because they are old.

4. Labelling and packaging – Alcohol unit information

Some fairly simple policies could go a long way to reducing alcohol consumption amongst the baby boomers. The Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Group recommends that all bottles and cans of alcoholic beverage should contain information about units of alcohol, and licensed premises should be required to post information regarding units of alcohol in standard measures of wine, beer and spirits. Packaging of medications that interact with alcohol need to include more explicit information indicating that older people are more at risk.

5. An increase in the price of beverages containing alcohol

The price of beverages containing alcohol should be increased via taxation. There is a large body of evidence from many different countries showing that price affects drinking behaviour. The price of alcohol has declined steadily in relation to incomes and, at the same time, there has been a corresponding increase in consumption in all age groups.

Conclusion

The Alcohol and Healthy Ageing Working Group is strongly of the view that agebased sensible drinking limits should be introduced. It has long been recognized that there are gender differences in ability to metabolize and tolerate alcohol. It is time that it is acknowledged that there are age differences as well. We are not stating what those limits should be in this report. This needs to be a matter for another committee of experts, should our recommendation for age-based sensible limits be accepted. Given the shortage of good research to draw on in the preparation of this report, it will come as no surprise that a subsidiary recommendation is more research. Public and professional awareness also needs to be raised about the need to reduce alcohol consumption with age.

Appendix A Definitions and Abbreviations

Appendix A

Definitions and Abbreviations

Alcohol-related brain damage (ARBD) – Structural damage to the brain either directly due to alcohol or because of other alcohol-related problems especially vitamin deficiency (this includes Wernicke-Korsakoff Syndrome).

Alcohol-related morbidity - Consists of two types:

- 1. Conditions where alcohol is 100% (or very nearly) associated with the condition.
- 2. Conditions where alcohol is thought to play a significant part in the genesis of the condition.

Alcohol-related mortality - Consists of two types:

- 1. Conditions where alcohol is 100% (or very nearly) associated with the condition e.g. alcohol poisoning
- 2. Conditions where alcohol is thought to play a significant part in the genesis of the condition e.g. RTA

Alcohol 'problems' – Alcohol problems have been defined as the whole spectrum of harm (actual or potential) to work, relationships, social position, physical or mental health. The amounts of alcohol involved will vary from individual to individual over time.¹

Baby boomers – Large cohort born after World War II. The term was coined in the United States and there it refers to the cohort born between 1946 and 1963. In the UK the baby boomers are often defined as the cohort born between 1945 and 1965.

Binge drinking – Drinking an excessive amount on any one occasion. There is no commonly-accepted definition, but the Scottish Health Survey uses the criterion of drinking more than twice the recommended daily benchmark on a person's heaviest drinking day (more than 8 units for men and 6 units for women).¹

In reality, this means, for example:

Three pints of strong beer at lunchtime and in the evening = two (male) "binges" per day.

Two large glasses of wine at lunchtime and in the evening = two (female) "binges" per day.

Compression of Morbidity – Compression of ill-health and morbidity into a short period just prior to death.

Early-onset/Graduate drinkers – People who have had a lifetime of alcohol problems starting in early life and continuing into old age and who evaded premature death and survived into old age.

Fibrinolysis – Breakdown of fibrin in blood clots, chiefly by the proteolytic action of plasmin and results in the removal of small blood clots.

Late/recent-onset drinkers – People who have developed alcohol problems in later life.

Moderate drinking – Definitions of moderate levels of alcohol consumption vary. The Royal College of Physicians (2001) in the report '*Alcohol – can the NHS afford it?*⁵⁴ define 'moderate drinking' as 15 to 21 units per week for males or 11 to 14 units per week for females (based on General Household Survey usage,³); this approximates to two units of alcohol a day. The (US) National Institute for Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism defines 'moderate' alcohol use as up to two drinks per day for men and one drink per day for women and older people (one drink equals one 12-ounce bottle of beer or wine cooler, one 5-ounce glass of wine, or 1.5 ounces of 80-proof distilled spirits [www.niaaa.nih.gov/faq/q-a.htm#question13]). The table below provides definitions of 'light', 'medium' and 'heavy' drinking based on a meta-analysis by Gutjahr *et al.*¹⁹¹ and endorsed by the UK Medical Council on Alcohol.¹⁹²

DRINKING	RISK	UNITS/WEEK
Light	Least	Less than 8 (males)
		Less than 6 (females)
Medium	Low	9 to 21 (males)
		7 to 14 (females)
Heavy	Hazardous	22 - 50 (males)
		15 - 35 (females)
	Harmful	51 + (males)
		36 + (females)

Old age – Age is measured in terms of time and is not a causal variable. Thus, when we talk of the effects of ageing we are talking about 'age-related' effects. The underlying causal factors are processes such as social transitions, psychological stress, cell loss, etc. In the West 'old age' is commonly linked with the year at which a person may collect a pension. That particular age was rather arbitrarily set by Bismark as 65 years. The terms old and older are, however, relative terms.

Polypharmacy – Concurrent use of several drugs or medicines.

Recommended daily limit – 3-4 units for men and 2-3 units for women of all ages, although consistently drinking 4 or more units a day for men and 3 or more units a day for women is not advised as a sensible drinking level.¹⁹⁰

'Unit' of alcohol (UK) – 10ml of pure alcohol (ethanol) or that which contains 8g of ethanol. The unit content of drinks is calculated from the strength (percentage of alcohol by volume) and the volume.

Weekly recommended limit – 21 units for men and 14 units for women.¹⁹³

Wernike-Korsakoff's syndrome – A syndrome found in people with chronic alcohol problems, characterised by very poor short-term memory, which can results in disorientation and concoction of stories to make up for gaps in memory.¹⁹⁴

Abbreviations

ARBD	Alcohol-related Brain Damage
BNF	British National Formulary
DoH	Department of Health
GHS	General Household Survey
GP	General Practitioner
GRO	General Register Office for Scotland
HEBS	Health Education Board for Scotland
NIAAA	National Institute of Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (USA)
NHS	National Health Service
NSAIDS	Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs
OSA	Obstructive Sleep Apnoeas
OTC	Over-the-counter
PHIS	Public Health Institute of Scotland
SHS	Scottish Health Survey
UGIB	Upper Gastro-intestinal Bleeding
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States

Appendix B Alcohol and Medication Interactions

Appendix B

Alcohol and Medication Interactions

Table 4. Summary of alcohol and medication interactions (Source: BNF)

Drug group	Effect
ACE Inhibitors and Angiotensin-II Antagonists	Enhanced hypotensive effect
Analgesics	Sedative and hypotensive effect of opioid analgesics enhanced
*Antibacterials	Disulfiram-like reaction with cefomandole, metronidazole, and possibly timidazole; increased risk of seizures with cycloserine
*Anticoagulants	Enhanced anticoagulant effect of warfarin, with large amounts of alcohol. Changes in diet and alcohol consumption will affect warfarin control
*Antidepressants	Sedative effect of tricyclics (and related) enhanced; tyramine (contained in some alcoholic and dealcoholised beverages) interacts with monamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs) (hypertensive crisis) – but if no tyramine, enhanced hypotensive effect; effects of alcohol possibly enhanced by selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs)
Antidiabetics	Enhanced hypoglycaemic effect; Increased risk of lactic acidosis with metformin
Antiepileptics	CNS side-effects of carbamazepine possibly enhanced
Antihistamines	Enhanced sedative effect
Antihypertensives	Enhanced hypotensive effect; sedative effect of Indoramin enhanced
Antimuscarinics	Sedative effect of hyoscine enhanced
Antipsychotics	Enhanced sedative effect

Drug group	Effect
Anxiolytics and Hypnotics	Enhanced sedative effect
Barbiturates and Primidone	Enhanced sedative effect
Beta-blockers	Enhanced hypotensive effect
Calcium-channel blockers	Enhanced hypotensive effect; plasma-alcohol concentration possibly increased by verapamil
Cytotoxics	Disulfiram-like reaction with procarbazine
Dopaminergics	Reduced tolerance to bromocriptine
Lofexidine	Enhanced sedative effect
Muscle relaxants	Baclofen, methocarbamol and tizanidine enhance sedative effect
Nabilone	Enhanced sedative effect
Nitrates	Enhanced hypotensive effect
* Paraldehyde	Enhanced sedative effect
Retinoids	Etretinate formed from acitretin in presence of alcohol

* potentially hazardous interaction, the combination should be avoided, or only undertaken with caution and appropriate monitoring

References

References

- 1. Scottish Executive. *Plan for Action on alcohol problems*. 2002. Edinburgh, Scottish Executive.
- Scottish Executive. The Scottish Health Survey Volume 1. 1998. 277-293.
 2000. Edinburgh, The Stationery Office.
- 3. The Social Survey Division, Office for National Statistics. Living in Britain: Results from the 2000/2001 General Household Survey. 2001. London, The Stationery Office.
- 4. Grundy, E. 'Demography and public health'. In Detels, R., McEwen, J., Beaglehole, R., Tanaka, H. eds. *Oxford Textbook of Public Health*. Volume 2: The Methods of Public Health, pp 807-28. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002.
- 5. Vincent, J.A. *Politics, Power and Old Age*. Buckingham: Open University Press, 1999.
- 6. Mullen, P. *The Imaginary Time Bomb: Why an Ageing Population is not a Social Problem*. London: I.B.Taurus, 2000.
- 7. Dally, G., Falkingham, J., Hancock, R., Lewis, J., Means, R., Phillipson, C. *Baby Boomers: Ageing in the 21st century*. London: Age Concern, 1997.
- 8. Harkin, J., and Huber, J. *Eternal Youths: How the Baby Boomers are Having Their Time Again*. 2004. London, Demos.
- 9. Johnson, I. 'Alcohol problems in old age: A review of recent epidemiological research'. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 2000; 15:575-81.
- 10. Herring, R., Thom, B. 'Right to take risks: Alcohol and older people'. *Social Policy and Administration* 1997; 31:233-46.
- 11. Population by sex and quinary age groups, 1911 to 2000. 2002. Edinburgh, General Register Office for Scotland.
- 12. General Registrar for Scotland. 2001 population report mid-year estimates. 2002. Edinburgh, General Register Office for Scotland.
- 13. Government Actuary. 2001-based projected populations at mid-years by age last birthday in five-year age groups, Scotland. London. http://www.gad. gov.uk/Population/2001/scotland/wsco015y.xls. 2003. Government Actuary's Department.
- 14. Fries, J.F., Green, L.W., Levine, S. 'Health promotion and the compression of morbidity'. *The Lancet* 1989; 1:481-3.
- 15. Handbook of the Biology of Aging. London: Academic Press, 1995.
- 16. Fries, J.F. 'Aging, natural death, and the compression of morbidity.' *New England Journal of Medicine* 1980; 303:130-5.

- 17. Fries, J.F. Compression of morbidity in the elderly. Vaccine, 2000; 18:1584-9.
- 18. Gruenberg, E.M. *The failure of success*. Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly/ Health and Society 55, 3-24. 1977.
- 19. Olshansky, S.J., Rudberg, M.A., Carnes, B.A. *et al.* 'Trading off longer life for worsening health: The expansion of morbidity hypothesis'. *Journal of Ageing and Health* 1991;3:194-216.
- 20. Hubert, H.B., Bloch, D.A., Oehlert, J.W., Fries, J.F. 'Lifestyle habits and compression of morbidity'. *Journal of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2002;57:M338-42.
- 21. The Scottish Office Department of Health. The Scottish Health Survey 1995. Volume 1. 277-293. 1997. Edinburgh, The Stationery Office.
- 22. Health Education Board for Scotland. Indicators for Health Education in Scotland: Summary of the findings from the 1998 Health Education Population Survey. 2000. Edinburgh, Health Education Board for Scotland.
- 23. Scottish Executive. The Scottish Household Survey Web Site. http://www. scotland.gov.uk/shs/default.htm. 2002. Edinburgh, The Scottish Executive.
- 24. Small, G. 'What we need to know about age related memory loss'. *British Medical Journal* 2002; 324:1502-5.
- 25. Hayslip, B., Panek, P.E. *Adult Development and Aging*. New York: Harper Collins College Publishers, 1993.
- 26. McDonach, E., Gilhooly, M., Mowat, H., McMahon, J., and Curzio, J. The role of alcohol in older people's lives: Implications of changing social norms on patterns of alcohol use. Poster presentation at the Annual Scientific Conference of the British Society of Gerontology. 2001.
- Gilhooly, M., McDonach, E., Wales, A., McMahon, J., Mowat, H., and Curzio, J. Alcohol and ageing: An investigation of the role of alcohol in the lives of older people in Scotland. Poster presented at the 2000 National Conference, "The Changing Face of Ageing", Australian Association of Gerontology, Adelaide, Australia. 2000.
- McDonach, E., Wales, A., Gilhooly, M., Curzio, J., and McMahon, J. 'Investigating the role of alchol in older people's lives and patterns of consumption'. Paper presented at the annual conference of the British Society of Gerontology. Keeble College, Oxford, September. Abstract published in Dickinson, A., Bartlett, H., and Wade, S. (eds) Old Age in a New Age: Proceedings of the British Society of Gerontology. Oxford Brooks University, p. 251. 2000.
- 29. McDonach, E., Gilhooly, M., McMahon, J., and Curzio, J. 'The implications of changing social norms of patterns of alcohol use in later life in Scotland'. Paper presented at the Annual Scientific Meeting of the Gerontological Society of America, Boston, November 22-25th. Abstract published in *The Gerontologist*, Volume 42, Special Issue 1, p. 374. October, 2002.

- 30. Department of Health. 'Statistics on alcohol: England, 1978 onwards'. *Statistical Bulletin* 2001; 13:1-55.
- 31. Lader, D. and Meltzer, H. *Drinking: adults' behaviour and knowledge in 2000*. A report using the ONS Omnibus Survey produced on behalf of the Department of Health. Social Survey Division. 2001. National Statistics.
- 32. Lader, D. and Goddard, E. *Drinking: adults' behaviour and knowledge in 2004*. A report on research using the ONS Omnibus Survey produced by the Office for National Statistics on behalf of the Department of Health. 2004. London, Office for National Statistics.
- 33. Welte, J. 'Stress and elderly drinking'. In Gomberg, E., Hegedus, A., Zucker, R. eds. *Alcohol Problems and Aging National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcohlism Research Monograph No 33*, pp. 229-46. Betheseda, MD: National Institutes of Health, 1998.
- 34. Rosin, A.J., Glatt, M.M. 'Alcohol excess in the elderly'. *Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 1971; 32:53-9.
- 35. Finlayson, R.E., Hurt, R.D., Davis, L.J., Morse, R.M. 'Alcoholism in elderly persons: A study of psychiatric and psychosocial features of 216 patients'. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 1988; 63:761-8.
- 36. Schonfield, L., Dupree, L.W. 'Antecedents of drinking for early and late on-set elderly alcohol abusers'. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 1991; 52:587-92.
- 37. Gurnack, A.M,. Hoffman, N.G. 'Elderly alcohol misuse'. *The International Journal of the Addictions* 1992; 27:869-78.
- 38. Adams, S.L., Waskel, S.A. 'Late onset of alcoholism among older midwestern men in treatment'. *Psychological Reports* 1991; 68:432-4.
- 39. Adams, S.L., Waskel, S.A. 'Late onset alcoholism: Stress and structure'. *The Journal of Psychology* 1993; 127:329-34.
- 40. Dufour, M., Fuller, R.K. 'Alcohol in the elderly'. *Annual Review of Medicine* 1995; 46:123-32.
- 41. Liberto, J.G., Oslin, D.W. 'Early versus late onset of alcoholism in the elderly'. *The International Journal of the Addictions* 1995; 30:1799-818.
- 42. Welte, J. 'Stress and Elderly Drinking'. In Gomberg, E., Hegedus, A.M., Zucker, R.A., eds. *Alcohol Problems and Aging, NIAAA Research Monograph No.33*, Bethesda MD: National Institute of Health, 1998.
- 43. Brennan, P.L., Moos, R.H. 'Functioning, life context, and help-seeking among late-onset drinkers: Comparison with non-problem and early-onset drinkers'. *British Journal of Addiction* 1991; 86:1139-50.
- 44. Perriera, K. Sloan, F. 'Life Events and Alcohol Consumption among Mature Adults: A Longitudinal Analyses'. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 2001; July 2001:501-7.

- 45. Pohorecky, L. 'Stress and alcohol interaction: An update of human research'. *Alcohol and Clinical Experimantal Research* 1991; 15:438-59.
- 46. Krause, N. 'Stress, alcohol use, and depressive symptoms in later life'. *Gerontologist* 1995; 35:296-307.
- 47. Welte, J., Mirand, A. 'Drinking, problem drinking and life stressors in the elderly general population'. *Journal of Studies of Alcohol* 1995; 56:67-73.
- 48. Batten, L. and Atherton, H. *A report on older people's attitudes towards alcohol*. 1995. Epsom, Crossbow Research.
- 49. Anderson, S., Duddleston, A., Lancaster, B., and Martin, C. *Older selves and future health: exploring 'healthy ageing'*. 2001. Edinburgh, Health Education Board for Scotland.
- 50. Lancaster, B. and Dudleston, A. *Attitudes towards alcohol: views of the general public, problem drinkers alcohol service users and their families and friends.* 2001. Edinburgh, Scottish Executive.
- 51. Clark, W. and Midanik, L. 'Alcohol use and problems among U.S. adults: Result of the 1979 National Survey'. In *National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. Alcohol Consumption and Related Problems: Alcohol and Health Monograph 1*. DHHS Pub. No. (ADM) 82-1190. 1982.
- 52. Clark, W.B., Hilton, M.E. Alcohol in America: Drinking Practices and Problems. Albany: State University of New York, 1991.
- 53. Fillmore, K. 'Women's drinking across the adult life course as compared to men's'. *British Journal of Addiction* 1987; 82:801-11.
- 54. Royal College of Physicians. *Alcohol can the NHS afford it?* London, RCP. 2001.
- 55. Klatsky, A.L., Friedman, G.D., Siegelaub, A.B. 'Alcohol consumption before myocardial infarction. Results from the Kaiser-Permanente epidemiologic study of myocardial infarction'. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1974; 31:294-301.
- 56. Yano, K., Rhoads, G.G., Kagan, A. 'Coffee, alcohol and risk of coronary heart disease among Japanese men living in Hawaii'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1977; 297:405-9.
- 57. Dyer, A.R., Stamler, J., Paul, O., *et al.* 'Alcohol consumption and 17 year mortality in the Chicago Western Electric Company Study'. *Preventive Medicine*. 1980;9:78-90.
- 58. Gordon, T., Kannel, W.B. 'Drinking and mortality. The Framingham Study'. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1984; 120:97-107.
- 59. Gordon, T. Doyle, J.T. 'Drinking and mortality. The Albany Study'. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1987; 125:263-70.
- 60. Shaper, A.G., Wannamethee, G., Walker, M. 'Alcohol and mortality in British men: explaining the U-shaped curve'. *Lancet* 1988; 2:1267-73.

- 61. Marmot, M.G., Rose, G., Shipley, M.J., Thomas B.J. 'Alcohol and mortality: a U-shaped curve'. *Lancet* 1981; 1:580-3.
- 62. Klatsky, A.L., Armstrong, M.A., Friedman, G.D. 'Alcohol and mortality'. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1992; 117:646-64.
- De Labry, L.O., Glynn, R.J., Levenson, M.R., *et al.* 'Alcohol consumption and mortality in an American male population: recovering the U-shaped curve – findings from the Normative Aging Study'. *Journal of Studies of alcohol* 1992; 53:25-32.
- 64. Doll, R., Peto, R., Hall, E. *et al.* 'Mortality in relation to consumption of alcohol: 13 years' observation on male British doctors'. *British Medical Journal* 1994; 309:911-8.
- 65. Comacho, T.C., Kaplan, G.A., Cohen, R.D. 'Alcohol consumption and mortality in Alameda county'. *Journal of Chronic Disease*. 1987; 40:229-36.
- 66. Hart, C.L., Smith, G.D., Hole, D.J., *et al.* 'Alcohol consumption and mortality from all causes, coronary heart disease, and stroke: results from a prospective cohort study of Scottish men with 21 years follow up'. *British Medical Journal* 1999; 318:1725-9.
- 67. Babor, T., Caetano, R., Casswell, S., Edwards, G., Giesbrecht, N., Graham, K. *et al. Alcohol: No Ordinary Commodity*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- 68. Rimm, E.B., Klatsky, A.L., Grobbee, D., *et al.* 'Review of moderate alcohol consumption and reduced risk of coronary heart disease: is the effect due to beer, wine, or spirits?' *British Medical Journal* 1996; 312:731-6.
- 69. Sharp, D. 'Coronary disease: when wine is red'. *Lancet* 1993;341:27-8.
- 70. St Leger, A.S., Cochrane, A.L., Moore, F. 'Factors associated with cardiac mortality in developed countries with particular reference to the consumption of wine'. *Lancet* 1979; 1:1017-20.
- 71. Seigneur, M., Bonnet, J., Doria, B., *et al.* 'Effect of consumption of alcohol, white wine and red wine on platelet function and serum lipids'. *Journal of Applied Cardiology* 1990; 5:215-22.
- 72. Yuan, J.M., Ross, R.K., Gao, Y.T. *et al.* 'Follow up study of moderate alcohol intake and mortality among middle aged men in Shanghai, China'. *British Medical Journal* 1997; 314:18-23.
- 73. White, J.R. 'Alcohol consumption and all-cause mortality'. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1996; 25:217-8.
- 74. Barefoot, J.C., Grønbæk, M., Feaganes, J.R., McPherson, R.S., Williams, R.B., Siegler, I.C. 'Original Research Communication: Alcoholic beverage preference, diet, and health habits in the UNC Alumni Heart Study'. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2002; 76:466-72.

- 75. Shaper, A.G., Phillips, A.N., Pocock, S.J., *et al.* 'Alcohol and ischaemic heart disease in middle aged British men'. *British Medical Journal* 1987; 294:733-7.
- 76. Fuchs, C.S., Stampfer, M.J., Colditz, G.A., *et al.* 'Alcohol consumption and mortality among women'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1995; 332:1245-50.
- 77. Morgan, M. and Ritson, B. *Alcohol and Health*. London, Medical Council on Alcohol. 2003.
- 78. Edwards, G., Marshall, E., Cook, C. *The Treatment of Drinking Problems*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- 79. Singletary, K.W., Gapstur, S.M. 'Alcohol and breast cancer: Review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence and potential mechanisms.' *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2001; 286:2143-51.
- 80. Dia, W.S., LaPorte, R.E., Hom, D.K., *et al.* 'Alcohol consumption and high density lipoprotein cholesterol concentration among alcoholics'. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 1985; 122:620-7.
- 81. Gaziano, J.M., Buring, J., Breslow, J.L., *et al.* 'Moderate alcohol intake, increased levels of high-density lipoprotein and its subfractions, and decreased risk of myocardial infarction'. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1993; 329:1829-34.
- 82. Keichl, S., Williet, J., Rungger, G. *et al.* 'Alcohol consumption and atherosclerosis: what is the relation? Prospective results from the Bruneck Study'. *Stroke* 1998; 29:900-7.
- 83. Hendriks, H.F.J., Veenstra, J., Velthuis-te Wierik, E.J.M. 'Effect of moderate dose of alcohol with evening meal on fibrinolytic factors'. *British Medical Journal* 1994; 308:1003-6.
- 84. Van de Wiel, A., Van Golde, P.M., Kraaijenhagen, R.J., et al. 'Acute inhibitory effect of alcohol on fibrinolysis'. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2001; 31:164-70.
- Agarwal, D. 'Cardioprotective effects of light-moderate consumption of alcohol: A review of putative mechanisms'. *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 2002; 37:409-15.
- 86. Kauhanen, J., Kaplan, G.A., Goldberg. D.E., Salonen, J.T. 'Beer bingeing and mortality: results from the Kuopio ischaemic heart disease risk factor study, a prospective population based study.' *British Medical Journal* 1997; 315:846-51.
- 87. Kauhanen, J., Kaplan, G.A., Goldberg, D.D., Cohen, R.D., Lakka, T.A., Salonen, J.T. 'Frequent hangovers and cardiovascular mortality in middle-aged men'. *Epidemiology* 1997; 8:310-31.
- 88. McKee, M., Britton, A. 'The positive relationship between alcohol and heart disease in eastern Europe: potential physiological mechanisms'. *Journal Royal Society of Medicine* 1998; 91:402-7.

- 89. Rehm, J., Greenfield, T.K., Rogers, J.D. 'Average volume of alcohol consumption patterns of drinking and all-cause mortality. Results from the US National Alcohol Survey'. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2001; 153:64-71.
- 90. Blow, F.C., C.A.L., Booth, B.M., Falcon, S.P., Friedman, M. 'Age-related psychiatric comorbidites and level of functioning in alcoholic veterans seeking outpatient treatment'. *Hospital Community Psychiatry* 1992; 43:990-5.
- 91. Finlayson, R.E., Hurt, R.D., Davis, L.J Jr., Morse, R.M. 'Alcoholism in elderly persons: A study of the psychiatric and psychosocial features of 216 inpatients'. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 1988; 63:761-8.
- 92. Nakamura, M.M., Overall, J.E., Hollister, L.E., Radcliffe, E. 'Factors affecting outcome of depressive symptoms in alcoholics'. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 1983; 7:188-93.
- 93. Schuckit, M.A., Tipp, J.E., Bergman, M., Reich, W., Hesselbrock, V.M., Smith, TL. 'Comparison of induced and independent major depressive disorders in 2,945 alcoholism'. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1997; 154:984-57.
- 94. Brown, S.A., Schuckit, M.A. 'Changes in depression among abstinet alcoholics'. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 1988; 49:412-7.
- 95. Brown, S.A., Inaba, R.K., Gillin, J.C., Shuckit, M.A., Stewart, M.A., Irwin, M.R. 'Alcoholism and affective disorders: Clinical course of depressive symptoms'. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1995; 152:45-52.
- 96. Atkinson, R. 'Depression, alcoholism and ageing: a brief review'. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 1999; 14:905-10.
- 97. Zisook, S., Shuchter, S.R. 'Major depression associated with widowhood'. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 1993; 1:316-26.
- 98. Baum-Baicker, C. 'The psychological benefits of moderate alcohol consumption: a review of the literature'. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 1985; 15:305-22.
- 99. Vasse, R., Nijhuis, F., Kok, G. 'Associations between work stress, alcohol consumption and sickness absence'. *Addiction* 1998;93:231-41.
- 100. Morgan, K. Sleep and Aging: A Research-Based Guide to Sleep in Later Life. Baltimore: Johns Hopkings University Press, 1987.
- 101. Byles, J., Mishra, G., Harris, M., Nair, K. 'The problems of sleep for older women: changes in health outcomes'. *Age and Ageing* 2003; 32:154-63.
- Morgan, K., Dallosso, H., Ebrahim, S., Arie, T., Fentem, P. 'Characteristics of subjective insomnia in the elderly living at home'. *Age and Ageing* 1988; 17:1-7.
- 103. Gresham, S., Webb, W., Williams, R. 'Alcohol and caffeine: Effect on inferred visual dreaming'. *Science* 1963; 140:1226-7.

- 104. Yules, R., Freedman, D., Chandler, K. 'The effect of ethyl alcohol on man's electroencephalographic sleep cycle'. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology* 1966; 20:109-11.
- 105. Knowles, J., Laverty, S., Kuechler, H. 'Effects of alcohol on REM sleep'. *Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 1968; 29:342-9.
- 106. Roehrs, T,. Roth, T. 'Sleep, sleepiness and alcohol use'. *Alcohol Research and Health* 2005; 25:101-9.
- 107. Morgan, K., Healey, D., Healey, P. 'Factors influencing persistent subjective insomnia in old age: A follow-up study of good and poor sleepers aged 65 to 74'. Age and Ageing 1989; 18:117-22.
- 108. Ancoli-Israel, S., Klauber, M., Kripke, D., Parker, L., Cobarrubias, M. 'Sleep apnea in female patients in a nursing home. Increased risk of mortality'. *Chest* 1989; 96:1054-8.
- 109. Ancoli-Israel, S,. Roth, T. 'Characteristics of insomnia in the United States: Results of the 1991 National Sleep Foundation Survey. I'. *Sleep* 2000; 22:S347-53.
- 110. Aldrich, M.S., Shipley, J.E., Tandon, R., Kroll, P.D., Brower, K.J. 'Sleepdisordered breathing in alcoholics: Association with age'. *Alcohol and Clinical Experimental Research* 1993; 17:1179-83.
- Block A. 'Alcohol ingestion does not cause sleep-disordered breathing in premenopausal women'. *Alcohol and Clinical Experimental Research* 1984; 8:397-8.
- 112. Block, A., Hellard, D., Slayton, P. 'Effect of alcohol ingestion on breathing and oxygenation during sleep: Analysis of the influence of age and sex'. *American Journal of Medicine* 1986; 80:595-600.
- 113. Aldrich, M. 'Effects of alcohol on sleep'. In Gomberg, E., Hegedus, A., Zucker, R., eds. Alcohol Problems and Aging. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcohlism Research Monograph No 3, pp 281-300. Betheseda, MD: National Institutes of Health, 1998.
- 114. Jennum, P., Borgesen, S. 'Intracranial pressure and obstructive sleep apnea'. *Chest* 1989; 95:279-83.
- Siebler, M., Daffertshofer, M., Hennerici, M., Freund, H.J. 'Cerebral blood flow alterations during obstructive sleep apnea syndrome'. *Neurology* 1990; 40:1461-2.
- Wright, J., Johns, R., Watt, I., Melville, A., Sheldon, T. 'Health effects of obstructive sleep apnoea and the effectiveness of positive airwasy pressure: a systematic review of the research evidence'. *British Medical Journal*, 1997; 314:851.
- 117. Aldrich, M. Neurobiology of sleep. In Aldrich, M., ed. *Sleep Medicine*, pp 27-38. New York: Oxford: 1999.

- 118. Risberg, B. Cerebral blood flow and metabolisim in alcoholics in neuropsychology of alcoholism: implications for diagnosis and treatment. New York: Guildford Press, 1987.
- 119. Lishman, W.A. Organic Psychiatry. Oxford: Blackwell Science Ltd., 1998.
- 120. Oslin, D.W., Strein, J.E., Pamelee, P., Boyce, A.A., Katz, I.R. 'Alcohol abuse: a source of reversible functional disability among residents of a VA nursing home'. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 1997; 12:825-32.
- 121. Gow, J. and Gilhooly, M. *Risk factors for dementia and cognitive decline*. 2003. Glasgow, NHS Health Scotland.
- 122. Tyas, S. 'Alcohol use and the risk of developing Alzheimer's disease'. *Alcohol Research and Health* 2001; 25:299-306.
- 123. Nixon, S.J. 'Alcohol, aging and cognition'. In Gomberg, E., Hegedus, A.S., Zucker, R.A. eds. *Alcohol Problems and Aging, Research Monograph No 33*, pp 213-27. Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Alcohol and Alcoholism, 1998.
- Parsons, O.A., Nixon, S.J. 'Cognitive functioning in sober social drinkers: A review of the research since 1986'. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 1998; 59:180-90.
- Ruitenberg, A., van Swieten, J.C., Witteman, J.C., Mehta, K.M., van Duijn, C.M., Hofman, A. *et al.* 'Alcohol consumption and risk of dementia: the Rotterdam Study'. *Lancet* 2002; 359:281-6.
- 126. Orgogozo, J.M., Dartigues, J.F., Lafont, S., Letenneur, L., Commenges, D., Salamon, R. *et al.* 'Wine consumption and dementia in the elderly: a prospective community in the Bordeaux area'. *Revue Neurolologique* 1997; 153:185-92.
- 127. Hendrie, H.C., Gao, S., Hall, K.S., Hui, S.L., Unverzagt, F.W. 'The relationship between alcohol consumption, cognitive performance, and daily functioning in an urban sample of older black Americans'. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 1996; 44:1158-65.
- 128. Leroi, I., Sheppard, J.M., Lyketsos, C.G. 'Cognitive function after 11.5 years of alcohol use: relation to alcohol use'. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2002; 156:747-52.
- Mukamal, K., Kuller, L., Fitzpatrick, A., Longstreth, W., Mittleman, M., Siscovick, D. 'Prospective study of alcohol consumption and risk of dementia in older adults'. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 2003; 289:1405-13.
- 130. Galanis, D.J., Joseph, C., Masaki, K.H., Petrovitch, H., Ross, G.W., White, L. 'A longitudinal study of drinking and cognitive performance in elderly Japanese American men: the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study'. *American Journal of Public Health* 2000; 90:1254-9.
- 131. Leibovici, D., Ritchie, K., Ledesert, B., Touchon, J. 'The effects of wine and tobacco consumption on cognitive performance in the elderly: a longitudinal study of relative risk'. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1999; 28:77-81.

- 132. Zhou, H., Deng, J., Li, J., Wang, Y., Zhang, M., He, H. 'Study of the relationship between cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking and cognitive impairment among elderly people in China,. *Age and Ageing* 2003; 32:205-10.
- 133. Goodwin, J.S., Sanchez, D.J., Thomas, P., Hunt, C., Garry, P.J., Goodwin, J.M. 'Alcohol intake in a health elderly population'. *American Journal of Public Health* 1987; 77:173-7.
- 134. Krahn, D., Freese, J., Hauser, R., Barry, K., Goodman, B. 'Alcohol use and cognition at mid-life: the importance of adjusting for baseline cognitive ability and educational attainment'. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 2003; 27:1162-6.
- 135. Herring, R., Thom, B. 'Alcohol Misuse in older people: the role of home carers'. *Health and Social Care in the Community* 1997; 5:237-45.
- 136. Honaken, R., Ertama, L., Kuosmanen, P., Linnoila, M., Alha, A., Visuri, T. 'The role of alcohol in accidental falls'. *Journal Studies Alcohol* 1983; 44:231-54.
- 137. Turner, R.T., Sibonga, J.D. 'Effects of alcohol use and estrogen on bone'. *Alcohol Research and Health* 2001; 25:276-81.
- 138. Turner, R.T. 'Skeletal response to alcohol'. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 2000; 24:1693-701.
- 139. Vestal, R.E., McGuire, E.A., Tobin, J.D., Andres, R., Norris, A.H., Mezey, E. 'Ageing and ethanol metabolism'. *Clinical Pharmacological Therapy*. 1977; 21:343-54.
- 140. Wilkinson, G.R. 'The effects of ageing on the disposition of the benzodiazepines in man'. In Crooks, J., Stevenson, I.H. eds. *Drugs and the elderly*, p. 103. Baltimore University Press, 1979.
- 141. Gerbino, P.P. 'Complications of alcohol use combined with drug therapy in the elderly'. *American Geriatrics Society* 1982; 30:s88-s93.
- 142. National Prescribing Centre. *GP prescribing support: a resource document and guide for the new NHS*. 1998.
- 143. Davidson, W., Collett, J., *et al.* 'An analysis of the quality and cost of repeat prescriptions'. *The Pharmaceutical Journal* 1998; 260:458-60.
- 144. Malcolm, M.T. 'Alcohol and drug use in the elderly visited at home'. *The International Journal of the Addictions* 1984; 19:411-8.
- 145. Forester, L.E. *et al.* 'Alcohol use and potential risk for alcohol related adverse drug reactions among community based elderly'. *Journal of Community Health* 1993; 18:225-39.
- 146. Sinclair, H.K., Bond, C.M., Hannaford, P.C. 'Over the counter ibruprofen: how and why is it used?' *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice* 2000; 8:121-7.
- 147. Ward, M. Older people and alcohol a literature review. 1997. Health Education Authority, U.K.

- 148. Kaufman, D.W. *et al.* 'The risk of major upper gastrointestinal bleeding amongst users of aspirin and ibuprofen at various levels of alcohol consumption'. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 1999; 94:3189-96.
- 149. Dart, R.C. 'The use and effect of analgesics in patients who regularly drink alcohol'. *American Journal of Managed Care* 2001; 7:S597-S601.
- 150. Schiodt, F.V., Rochling, F.A., Casey, D.L., Lee, W.M. 'Acetaminophen toxicity in an urban county hospital. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1997; 337:11 12-7.
- 151. Whitcomb, D.C., Block, G.D. 'Association of acetaminophen hepatotoxicity with fasting and ethanol use'. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 1994; 271:1845-50.
- 152. Seifert, C.F., Lucas, D.S., Vondracek, T.G., Kastens, D.J., McCarty, D.L., Bui, B. 'Patterns of acetaminophen use in alcoholic patients'. *Pharmacotherapy* 1993; 13:391-5.
- 153. Ganriel, S.E., Jaakkimainen, L., Bombardier, C. 'Risk for serious gastrointestinal complications related to use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. A metaanalysis'. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1991; 115:787-96.
- 154. Andreason, S., Graftman, K. 'Prevention of alcohol problems in primary care. Patients receptive to questions concerning alcohol and lifestyle'. *Lakartidningen* 2002; 99:4252-5.
- 155. Cartwright, A. 'Medicine taking by people aged 65 or more'. *British Medical Bulletin* 1990; 46:63-76.
- 156. Zermansky, A., Petty, D., Raynor, D.K. *et al.* 'Randomised controlled trial of clinical medication review by a pharmacist of elderly patients receiving repeat prescriptions in general practice'. *British Medical Journal* 2001; 323:1340-3.
- 157. Hughes, S. 'Compliance with Drug Treatment in the elderly'. *Prescriber* 1988; January:45-9.
- 158. National Pharmaceutical Association. *Medication management strategies to meet the need of vulnerable people*. 1998.
- 159. Murray, M.D., Darnell, J., Weinberger, M., Martz, B.L. 'Factors contributing to medication compliance in elderly public housing tenants'. *Drug Intelligence and Clinical Pharmacy.* 1986; 20:146-52.
- 160. Shimp, L.A., Ascione, F.J., Glazer, H.M., Atwood, B.F. 'Potential medication related problems in non-institutionalised elderly'. *Drug Intelligence and Clinical Pharmacy* 1985; 19:766-72.
- 161. British National Formulary Prescribing for the elderly. 2004.
- 162. Dowell, J., Hudson, H. 'A qualitative study of medication-taking behaviour in primary care'. *Family Practice* 1997; 14:369-75.

- 163. McDonach, E., Gilhooly, M., Curzio, J., and McMahon, J. 'Alcohol consumption in later life: the implications of changing social normal on patterns of alcohol use'. Paper presented at an international, interdisciplinary conference titled, "Figuring addictions, rethinking consumption", Institute for Cultural Research, University of Lancaster, UK. 2002.
- 164. Harrison, L., Manthorpe, J., Plant, M. 'Alcohol and the care of older people'. In Harrison, I. ed. *Alcohol Problems in the Community*, pp 76-97. New York: Routeledge, 1996.
- 165. Beresford, T.P. 'Alcoholic elderly: Prevalence, screening, diagnosis, and prognosis'. In Beresford, T., Gomberg, E. eds. *Alcohol and Aging*, pp 3-18. New York: Oxford University Press, 1995.
- Randall. C., Roberts, J., Del Boca, F., Carroll, K., Connors, G., Mattson, M. 'Telescoping of landmark events associated with drinking: A gender comparison'. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 1999; 60:252.
- 167. Catalyst Health Economics Consultants Ltd. *Alcohol misuse in Scotland: Trends and costs.* 2001. Edinburgh, The Scottish Executive.
- 168. *Tackling Alcohol Together: The Evidence Base for a UK Alcohol Policy*. London: Free Association Books, 1999.
- 169. Neve, R., Diederiks, J., Knibbe, R., Drop, M. 'Developments in drinking behavior in the Netherlands from 1958 to 1989, a cohort analysis'. *Addiction* 1993; 88:611-21.
- 170. Mäkelä, P., Tryggvesson, K., Rossow, I. 'Who drinks more or less when policies change? The evidence from 50 years of Nordic studies'. In Room, R. ed. *The Effects of Nordic Alcohol Policies: What Happen to Drinking and Harms When Control Systems Change?* pp 17-70. Helsinki: Nordic Council for Alcohol Drug Research, 2002.
- 171. O'Malley, O.P.M., Wagenaar, C.C. 'Effects of minimum drinking age laws on alcohol use, related behaviors and traffic crash involvement among American youth: 1976-1987'. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol* 1991; 52:478-91.
- 172. Voas, R.B. and Tippetts, A.S. *Relationship of Alcohol Safety Laws to Drinking Drivers in Fatal Crashes*. 1999. Washington, DC, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- 173. Wagenaar, A.C., Toomey, T.L. 'Alcohol policy: gaps between legislative action and current research'. *Contemporary Drug Problems* 2000; 27:681-733.
- 174. Ludwig, M.J. 'Mass media and health education: a critical analysis and reception study of a selected anti-drug campaign'. *Dissertation Abstracts International* 1994; 55:1479A.
- 175. Murray, J.P.J., Stam, A., Lastovicka, J.L. 'Paid versus donated-media strategies for public service announcement campaigns'. *Public Opinion Quarterly* 1996; 60:1-29.

- 176. Sly, D., Heald, G., Ray, S. 'The Florida 'truth' anti-tobacco media evaluation: Design, first year results, and implications for planning future state media evaluations'. *Tobacco Control* 2001; 10:9-15.
- 177. Givel, M,.Glantz, S. 'Failure to defend a successful state tobacco control program: Policy lessons from Florida'. *American Journal of Public Health* 2000; 90:762-7.
- 178. Andrews, J. 'Effectiveness of alcohol warning labels: A review and extension'. *American Behavioural Scientist* 1995; 38:622-32.
- 179. Foxcroft, D.R., Lister-Sharp, D., Lowe, G. 'Alcohol misuse prevention for young people: A systematic review reveals methodological concerns and lack of reliable evidence'. *Addiction* 1997; 92:531-7.
- 180. White, D,. Pitts, M. 'Educating young people about drugs: A systematic review'. *Addiction* 1998; 93:1475-87.
- 181. World Health Organization. *Problems Related to Alcohol Consumption: Report of a WHO Expert Committee*. 1980. Geneva, World Health Organization. Technical Report Series 650.
- Poikolainen, K. 'Effectiveness of brief interventions to reduce alcohol intake in primary health care populations: a meta-analysis'. *Preventive Medicine* 1999; 28:503-9.
- 183. Fleming, M., Barry, K., Manwell, L., Johnson, K., London, R. 'Brief physician advice for problem alcohol drinkers: A randomized controlled trial in community-based primary care practices'. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1997; 277:1039-45.
- 184. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. *The management of harmful drinking and alcohol dependence in primary care*. 2003. Edinburgh, SIGN.
- 185. Centre for Substance Abuse Treatment, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Substance Abuse Among Older Adults. Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series, No, 26., DHHS Publication No. 01-3496 Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 1998, reprinted 2001.
- Gordon, A.J., Conigliaro, J., Maisto, S.A., McNeil, M., Kraemer, K.L., Kelley, M.E. 'Comparison of consumption effects of brief interventions for hazardous drinking elderly'. *Substance Use and Misuse* 2003; 38:1017-35.
- 187. Kristenson, H., Ohlin, H., Hulten-Nosslin, M., Trell, E., Hood, B. 'Identification and intervention of heavy drinking in middle-aged men: Results and follow-up of 24-60 months of long-term study with randomized controls'. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 1983; 7:203-9.
- 188. Wallace, P., Cutler, S., Haines, A. 'Randomized controlled trial of general practitioner intervention in patients with excessive alcohol consumption'. *British Medical Journal* 1988; 297:663-8.

- 189. Heather, N. 'The public health and brief interventions for excessive alcohol consumption: the British experience'. *Addictive Behaviors* 1996; 21:857-68.
- 190. Department of Health. Sensible drinking: The report of an inter-departmental working group. 1995. London, HMSO.
- 191. Gutjahr, E., Gmel, G., Rehm, J. 'Relation between average alcohol consumption and disease: an overview'. *European Addiction Research* 2001; 7:117-27.
- 192. UK Medical Council on Alcohol http://www.medicouncilalcol.demon.co.uk/ handbook/glosary.htm. 2003.
- 193. Royal College of Psychiatrists. *Alcohol Our Favourite Drug*. 1986. London, Royal College of Psychiatrists.
- 194. Slattery, J., Chick, J., Cochrane, M., Craig, J., Godfrey, C., Kohli, H., Macpherson, K., Parrott, S., Quinn, S., Single, A., Tochel, C. and Watson, H. *Prevention of relapse in alcohol dependence*. Health Technology Assessment Report 3. 2003. Glasgow, Health Technology Board for Scotland (now part of NHS Quality Improvement Scotland).